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2004 19 5.318,181,818™ 80,932,368,321 5,318,181,818 80,932,368,321
2021 20 10,574,770,378 91,507,138,699 10,574,770,378 91,507,138,699
@
(@
G
4
©)
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2024 12 31
10
()
- 58,476,519,174 63.90 57,377,053,317 -
735,839 13,846,717,317 15.13 - -
-420,000,000 4,794,082,653 5.24 - -
- 2,137,473,626 2.34 - -
213,436,229 980,050,957 1.07 - -
005L
CT001
- 957,031,543 1.05 - -
- 920,294,182 1.01 - -
761,742,240 761,742,240 0.83 - -
- 441,501,000 0.48 - -
420,000,000 420,000,000 0.46 - 420,000,000
2024
*
@
&)
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30
2024
75
0.0927
2024 12 31 91,507,138,699 8,483
0.1671
2024 2024 0.2598 23,774
2024 72
2024
2024
CSRC
2024 CSRC
2023-2024 A
2024 13
2024 12 31
2024 C1
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2024

Al Shu Shu

Al

2024
Institutional Investor 2024 14
2024 China Securities Golden Bauhinia
75
China Securities Journal
Securities Times
100 2024

2024 12 31

2024

2024 12 31
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2024 12 31

2024 D2

2025

2003
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2024

2201

2024

2024 100

2024
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2024 12
2025 20
18

2023 23 2022

2023 5 23 2026

2025
100033 31
61 2012
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58 2019
GSMA
50 2022
UHD
54
2023
51 2025
53 2025
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57 2025
64 2023
FCPA
FCCA
FCA 1984
1999 1984
KPMG 1996 KPMG
2000 2015
2015 10 2016
70 2018 10
1937
2001
2011 (
) 2005 2008
2011 2015
« )
68 2023
1997
1998
50
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68 2023
1984
11 12 13
2024 12 31
2024 2023 23 2026

2025

56

2024

52 2024
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53 2023
¢ D
47 2023
59 2022
2024 12 31 SFO
352 c3
SFO 15
1,000 0.00 0.00
(
)
1,000 0.00 0.00
(
)

2024
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OoooDod
SASAC
8
2024
- 245 368 145 - 758
@ 102 174 52 - 328
10 - 100 100 69 - 269
- 221 331 137 - 689
- 221 331 136 - 688
®) - 18 18 13 - 49
- 218 327 136 - 681
) - ’18 327 136 - 681
®)
509 - - - - 509
324 - - - - 324
) - 114 348 54 234 750
) - 111 396 54 - 561
G - 323 129 86 - 538
@) - 154 443 85 - 682
- 208 760 127 273 1,368
- 159 593 108 152 1,012
833 2,412 4,645 1,338 659 9,887
@ 2024 21 2025 10
0 2024 23
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®) 2024 19
10 2025 22
®)
() 2024 21
m 2024 21
®
9) 2024 360 327 327
317 317 2023
(10)
KPMG 2024
C. V.
101
344
2024 2023 12 31

( ( ))
2024 2023

46* 56
(907) (1,104)
) 3 4
(59) 79
49 60
(966) (1,183)

* 2024
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2024 12 31
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28

328

19.71
25

23
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IFRS

38

IFRS

103



)
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2024 12 31 2023 12 31
4 427,079 84,177 409,943 80,800
5 58,801 11,590 72,238 14,238
6 69,068 13,613 76,908 15,159
7 29,925 5,898 29,923 5,898
8 25,513 5,029 22,702 4,475
44,177 8,707 43,158 8,506

10

363 72 397 78
11 1,015 200 1,426 281
12 673 133 1,347 265
13 21,886 4,314 9,909 1,953
678,500 133,732 667,951 131,653
15 3,267 644 3,417 673
111 22 140 28
16 42,867 8,449 32,210 6,349
17 4,731 932 4,665 919
18 35,140 6,926 35,580 7,013
19,802 3,903 10,805 2,130
19 82,207 16,203 81,046 15,974
188,125 37,079 167,863 33,086
866,625 170,812 835,814 164,739
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2024 12 31 2023 12 31

20 2,835 559 2,867 565
1,238 244 1,133 223

20
21 160,550 31,644 145,872 28,751
78,790 15,530 74,260 14,637

22
23 65,185 12,848 65,417 12,894
2,410 475 488 96
14,369 2,832 13,399 2,641

24
325,377 64,132 303,436 59,807

(137,252) (27,052) (135,573) (26,721)

541,248 106,680 532,378 104,932
20 7,459 1,470 5,142 1,013
24 34,842 6,867 42,650 8,406
12 34,107 6,722 31,025 6,115
8,288 1,634 6,394 1,260
84,696 16,694 85,211 16,795
410,073 80,825 388,647 76,602
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2024 12 31 2023 12 31

25 91,507 18,036 91,507 18,036
26 360,883 71,130 351,419 69,265
452,390 89,166 442,926 87,301

4,162 820 4,241 836

456,552 89,986 447,167 88,137

866,625 170,812 835,814 164,739

2025 25

165 247
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@
12 31
2024 2023

27 529,417 104,348 513,551 101,221
(101,044) (19,916) (99,702) (19,651)
(165,598) (32,639) (160,411) (31,617)

28
29 (66,663) (13,139) (66,804) (13,167)
30 (98,279) (19,371) (92,805) (18,292)
31 (58,030) (11,438) (56,701) (11,176)
(489,614) (96,503) (476,423) (93,903)
39,803 7,845 37,128 7,318
32 (228) (45) (332) (65)
72 14 292 58
2,525 498 2,116 417
42,172 8,312 39,204 7,727
33 (9,197) (1,813) (8,776) (1,730)
32,975 6,499 30,428 5,997
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12 31
2024 2023

(452) (89) 511 101

115 23 (135) 7
(337) (66) 376 74
130 26 63 12
- - 2 0
130 26 65 13
(207) (41) 441 87
32,768 6,459 30,869 6,084
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165
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12 31
2024 2023
33,012 6,507 30,446 6,001
(€1)) ) (18) C)
32,975 6,499 30,428 5,997
32,805 6,466 30,887 6,088
(€1)) ) (18 )
32,768 6,459 30,869 6,084
38 0.36 7.10 0.33 6.50
38 0.36 7.10 0.33 6.50
25 91,507 91,507
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©))
2023
91,507 19,710 47,687 84,901 183 126 (458) 188,433 432,089 4,338 436,427
- - - - - - - 30,446 30,446 @18) 30,428
- - - - - 378 63 - 441 - 441
- - - - - 378 63 30,446 30,887 @18) 30,869
- - - - - - - - - 78) 78)
- 12 - - - - - ®) 9 @ 8
37 - - - - - - - (20,059)  (20,059) - (20,059)
26 - - - 2,860 - - - (2,860) - - -
26 - - - - 204 - - (204) - - -
2023 12
31
91,507 19,722 47,687 87,761 387 504 (395) 195,753 442,926 4,241 447,167
- - - - - - - 33,012 33,012 @GN 32,975
- (207)
- - - - - (337) 130 - (207)
<)) 32,768
- - - - - (337) 130 33,012 32,805
48 48
(90) (90)
- 186 - - - - - - 186 - 186
37 - - - - - - - (23,527)  (23,527) - (23,527)
26 - - - 3,163 - - - (3,163) - -
26 - - - - 274 - - Q74) - -
2024 12 31
91,507 19,908 47,687 90,924 661 167 (265) 201,801 452,390 4,162 456,552
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2023

2023 12

2024 12

165

37

26

26

31

37

26

26

31

247
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18,036 3,885 9,399 16,734 36 25 (90) 37,140 85,165 855 86,020
- - - - - - - 6,001 6,001 * 5,997
- - - - - 75 12 - 87 - 87
- - - - - 75 12 6,001 6,088 %) 6,084
- - - - - - - - - (15) (15)
- 2 - - - - - w 2 ©) 2
- - - - - - - (3,954) (3,954) - (3,954)
- - - 564 - - - (564) - - -
- - - - 40 - - (40) - - -
18,036 3,887 9,399 17,298 76 99 (78) 38,583 87,301 836 88,137
- - - - - - - 6,507 6,507 () 6,499
- - - - - (66) 26 - (41) - (41)
- - - - - (66) 26 6,507 6,466 (@) 6,459
9 9
- - - - - - - - - (18) (18)
- 37 - - - - - - 37 - 37
- - - - - - - (4,637) (4,637) - (4,637)
- - - 623 - - - (623) - - -
- - - - 54 - - (54) - - -
18,036 3,924 9,399 17,921 130 33 (52) 39,775 89,166 820 89,986
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Q)

12 31
2024 2023

(a) 145,049 28,589 137,508 27,103

(89,928)  (17,725)  (89,866)  (17,713)

(1,919) (378) (109) (1)
(343) (68) (307) (61)

1,346 265 1,223 241

65 13 89 18

52 10 124 24

(40) ® (30) ®

(41,655)  (8,210)  (13,349)  (2.631)

22,972 4,528 6,742 1,329

(®) (4,075) (803) (8,100)  (1,597)
®) 10,093 1,989 8,091 1,595

(103,432)  (20,386)  (95,492)  (18,821)

(15,428)  (3,041) (14,647)  (2,887)

6,613 1,303 5,988 1,180
(8,647)  (1,704) (11,239)  (2,215)
(23,527)  (4,637) (20,059)  (3,954)

(90) (18) @9) (16)

48 9 - -

(b) 951 187 6,680 1,317
(b) (465) (92) (121) (24)

(40,545)  (7,991) (33,477)  (6,598)

1,072 211 8,539 1,683

81,046 15,974 72,465 14,283

89 18 42 8

12 31 82,207 16,203 81,046 15,974
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12 31
2024 2023
42,172 8,312 39,204 7,727
101,044 19,916 99,702 19,651
3,861 761 3,419 674
4 1 7 1
(114) ©2) (295) (58)
(2,525) (498) (2,116) (417)
(2,242) (442) (2,368) (467)
2,391 471 2,545 502
79 16 155 31
1,869 368 4,046 797
146,539 28,883 144,299 28,441

87/281
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©

2024 2023 12 31

165 247
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12 31
2024 2023
146,539 28,883 144,299 28,441
(15,027) (2,962) (11,067) (2,181)
(168) (33) (1,813) (357)
146 29 90 18
)/ (5,980) (1,179) 130 26
244 48 (182) (36)
994 196 (683) (135)
18,194 3,586 10,176 2,006
2,290 451 1,657 327
(245) (48) (2,432) (479)
146,987 28,971 140,175 27,628
1,661 327 2,225 439
(2,358) (465) (2,646) (522)
2,138 421 1,530 302
(3,379) (666) (3,776) (744)
145,049 28,589 137,508 27,103
2019
42

88/281
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®)
2024 12 31

1.

2002 10

2.1

1ASB IFRS
IFRS

IFRS
1AS
IFRS

2024 12 31 137,252 2023 12 31
135,573 )

) 196,413
2023 12 31 205,452 )

2024 12
31

@

IFRS

IFRS
47

2.2 IFRS

1ASB IFRS

1AS 2020 1AS
2022
IFRS 16
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1AS IFRS

IFRS

2.3 2024 12 31

1ASB
2024 12 31
IAS 21 2025
IFRS IFRS 2026
IFRS 11 2026
IFRS 18 2027
IFRS 19 2027
1ASB 2024 12 31
@
@

(b)

©
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(®)
"
30
10
10
©
)
@
7
®
O)
Q)
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IFRS 15
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@

IFRS
15
FVTPL
FVTPL

)
)

FVTOCI

IFRS
( ) FVIPL
FVTOCI FVTOCH
FVTPL
FVTPL
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IFRS
IFRS
ECL ECL
ECL
ECL 12 ECL ECL 12
ECL
ECL
ECL
12 ECL
ECL

ECL
)
)
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)

)

() ECL
ECL
ECL

ECL

ECL

FVTOCI

95/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn

™
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IFRS

Q)
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O)

(i)

IFRS 16
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12
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IFRS 15

IFRS

@
()
@
)
)
)
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Doooooo
(b)
) (
) (
(
)
)
) @
) @C) (
)
m
10
10
(m)
©
m
IFRS
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)
®
@
()
2024 12 31
4,661 2023 :4,203
2024 12 31 9,703
2023 :8,713 163 2023 : 136
)
45
46
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®
()
) VAT
VAT
2019
VAT
VAT 2019 13 VAT
VAT 2019
13
VAT VAT
VAT VAT VAT VAT
VAT VAT

VAT

O)
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2023

2023

2024

2023

2023

2024

12

12

12

12

2024

2023

2023

2023

2024

31

31

31

31

12 31

12 31

12 31

12 31
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109,014 881,832 29,719 1,020,565
586 293 296 1,175
2,780 71,442 2,039 76,261
(1,139) (62,783) (2,310) (66,232)
111,241 890,784 29,744 1,031,769
1,503 296 334 2,133
3,756 88,941 2,660 95,357
(1,035) (48,437) (1,973) (51,445)
115,465 931,584 30,765 1,077,814
(70,009) (514,322) (22,271)  (606,602)
(3,760) (69,537) (1,937) (75,234)
1,037 56,773 2,200 60,010
(72,732) (527,086) (22,008)  (621,826)
(3,674) (70,414) (1,956) (76,044)
906 44,330 1,899 47,135
(75,500) (553,170) (22,065)  (650,735)
39,965 378,414 8,700 427,079
38,509 363,698 7,736 409,943

58,443

96,000

(76,261)

(5,944)

72,238

89,039

(95,357)

(7,119)

58,801
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2024 12 31
22,194 12,175 25,418 8,819 462 69,068
2023 12 31
22,693 14,496 30,938 8,312 469 76,908
2024 12 31
(852)  (5,075) (7.848)  (2.865) (173)  (16,813)
2023 12 31
(829)  (5,518) (7.744)  (2,823) (143)  (17,057)
2024 12 31
©) (10) - - - an
2023 12 31
- ©) - - - ©)
2024 12 31 1,310
2023 1,066 5,836 2023
5,057
2024 12 31 24,709 2023 23,068
11,669 2023 13,286
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12 31
2024 2023
29,925 29,923
( )
100 99.5
( )

2010 12 31

2009

1.4 2023 2.7 3.6
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2023

2023

2024

2023

2023

2024

2024
2023

12

12

12

12

12
12

31

31

31

31

31
31
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60,779
3,486
5,944

(2,029)

68,180

4,078
7,119
(2,948)

76,429

(39,999)
(7,411)
1,932

(45,478)

(8,189)
2,751

(50,916)

25,513
22,702
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2024 12 31
/
(
2001 13 3,000
2000 25 168
2007 15 350
2005 500
iMusIc 2013 250
2017 11 30 5,000
2019 5,000
2021 4,764
2021 900
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70

2021

1994

2019

2022

2021

2021

2023

2023

2023

12

11

11

29

14

26

18

28

26

89
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2,350

297

1,000

900

500

3,500

3,000

1,000

3,000

loT

Al
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10.
12 31

2024 2023
37,083 36,986

7,094 6,172
44,177 43,158

20.5%
)
() 2018
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12 31

2024 2023
91,360 78,083
241,474 247,924
75,799 63,934
57,056 64,379

2024 2023
97,772 94,009
10,730 9,750
® 6
10,727 9,756
1,743 1,166
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8.4
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12 31
2024 2023
199,979 197,694

1 -
20.5% 20.5%
40,995 40,527
(139) (317)
40,856 40,210
37,428 26,816
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11.

(

(

)

)

FVTOCI
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2024 2023
136 9
136 11
12 31
2024 2023
3,321 2,948
12 31
2024 2023
) 919 1,371
() 96 55
1,015 1,426
FVTOCI



12.

/(
2024 12 31
22,887
2023 12
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12 31 12 31 12 31 12 31
2024 2023 2024 2023
3,595 2,264 - _
2,508 2,745 - -
2,852 2,809 (47,596) (41,932)
2,385 1,889 - -
1,003 997 - -
- - (10,016) (11,714)
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117,720 111,025
31,194 26,444
10,618 7,505
1,018 898
160,550 145,872
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39,275 40,068
32,642 30,859
40,409 35,261
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34 14
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256 2023 292

142/281



(

)

ECL

143/281

EDINETOOOO

OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)

oOoOooodn

2024 2023
8,238 6,117
3,585 3,124

(1,103) (1,003)

10,720 8,238




EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn
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2,835 2,869 2,869 - - -
8,697 9,602 1,402 1,568 5,343 1,289
160,550 160,550 160,550 - - -
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216 227 - 227 - -
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() 3,916 3,909

() 596 806

() 69 60

() 763 779

() 528 673

) 24 29

) 3,066 2,294

() 8,279 6,584
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51,109 60,227
65,378 73,303
29,877 29,877
22,552 20,673
40,145 34,926
43,574 42,694
2 2
922 1,381
- 784
19,110 9,077
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1,713 1,527
35,794 28,057
3,281 3,304
23,586 19,597
4,494 6,299
34,771 42,901
103,639 101,685
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13,689 12,841
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(163,719) (158,574)
503,733 499,745
2,756 3,765
33,619 41,189
33,751 30,742
7,933 6,313
78,059 82,009
345,417 342,268
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ECL ECL

2,896

155/281

1,930 2023

2023 12 31

60 20 20

(CPI)

40 16



EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn

®

2024 2023 12 31

156/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn

48.
2024 3 11
A A
2024

2025 1
1,775 13

49.

2024 12 31

157/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn

SECTION VIl FINANCIAL REPORTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

at 31 December 2024 (Amounts in million)

158/281

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
MNotes RME EME
ASSETS
Mon-current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net 4 427,079 409,943
Censtruction in progress 5 58,801 72,238
Right-of-use assets & 69,068 76,908
Goodwill 7 29,925 29,923
Intangible assets ] 25,513 22,702
Interests in associates and joint ventures gLt 44,177 43,158
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 363 397
Equity instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income 11 1.015 1,426
Deferred tax assets 12 673 1,347
Cither assets 13 21,886 9 09
Tetal nen-current assets &78,500 &&7,951
Current assets
Inventories 15 3,267 3,417
Income tax recoverable 111 140
Accounts receivable, net 14 42,8467 32,210
Centract assets 17 4,731 4,665
Prepayments and other current assets 18 35,140 35,580
Shert-term bank deposits and restricted cash 19,802 10,805
Cash and cash equivalents 19 82,207 81,044
Total current assets 188,125 167 B&63
Total assets 866,625 835,814
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SECTION Vill FINANCIAL REPORTS
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

at 31 December 2024 (Amaunts in million)

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
Motes RMB RME
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Short-term debts 20 2,835 2,867
Current portion of long-term debts 20 1,238 1,133
Accounts payable 21 160,550 145,872
Acerued expenses and other payables 22 78,790 74,280
Contract liabilities 23 65,185 &5,417
Income tax payable 2,410 488
Current portion of lease liabilities 24 : 14,369 | 13,399
Tetal current liabilities 325,377 303,436
Met current liabilities {137,252) (135,573)
Total assets less current liabilities 541,248 532,378
Men-current liabilities
Leng-term debts 20 7,459 5142
Lease liabilities 24 34,842 42 450
Deferred tax liabilities 12 34,107 31,025
Other non-current liabilities g,288 &,394
Total non-current liabilities 84,696 BS 21N
Total liabilities 410,073 388 447
Equity
Share capital 25 21,507 91,507
Reserves 24 360,883 351,419
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the
Company 452,390 442 924
Mon-controlling interests 4,162 4,241
Total equity 454,552 447 167
Tetal liakilities and equity 8564,4625 835,814

s —

Approved and autherised for issue by the Board of Directors an 25 March 2025 and are signed an its behalf by:

Ke Ruiwen Li Yinghui
Executive Directar, Executive Director, Executive Vice President,
Chairman and Chief Executive Officar Chief Financial Officar and Secretary of the Board

The notes on pages 165 to 247 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SECTION VI FINANCIAL REPORTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

for the year ended 31 December 2024 [Amounts in million except for per share data)

2024 2023
MNetes RMB RMB
Operating revenues 27 529,417 513,551
Operating expenses
Depreciation and amortisation {101,044) (92,702)
Metwerk eperations and suppaort 2B {145,598) {160,411)
Selling, general and administrative 29 (6&,663) {66,804)
Personnel expenses 30 (98,279) (92,805)
Other operating expenses 3 (58,030) {56,701)
Total operating expenses (489,614) (476,423)
Operating profit 39,803 37,128
Met finance costs 3z {22&) (333)
Investment income and others 72 292
Share of profits of associates and joint ventures 2,525 2,116
Profit before taxation 42,172 39,204
Income tax 33 (9.197) {8, 776&)
Profit for the year 32,975 30,428
Other comprehensive income for the year
ftems that will not be reclassified subseguently to
profit or loss:
Change in fair value of investments in equity instruments
at fair value threugh other comprehensive income (452) 511
Deferred tax on change in fair value of investments
in equity instruments at fair value threugh other
camprehensive income 115 {135)
(337) 376
items that may be reciassified subseguently o
profit or [oss:
Exchange difference on translation of financial statements
af subsidiaries autside mainland China 120 43
Share of ather comprehensive income of associates and
joint ventures - 2
130 45
Cither comprehensive income for the year, net of tax {207) 441
Tetal comprehensive income for the year 32,768 30,869
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SECTION Vill FINANCIAL REPORTS
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

for the year ended 21 December 2024 (Amounts in millien except for per share data)

ﬁ

2024 2023
Motes RME RMB
Prefit attributable to

Equity holders of the Company 33,012 30,444
MNen-controlling interests (37) {18)
Profit for the year 32,975 30,428

Total comprehensive income attributable to
Equity holders of the Cempany 32,805 30,887
Men-centrelling interests (37) (18)
Total comprehensive income for the year 32,748 30,8569
Basic earnings per share (RMB) 38 0.36 0.32
Diluted earnings per share (RME) 38 0.35 0.33
Number of shares (in million) 25 91,507 91,507

A S

The notes on pages 165 to 247 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SECTION VIl FINANCIAL REPORTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the year ended 31 December 2024 (Amounts in millian}

fntributable 1o squity holders of the Company

Ganeral Man-
Share  Capital Share  Surplus risk Other Exchange Retained Cortroling Total
capital  reserve premium  reEeTYES  PERETYE  [ERETYES  TEIEMYE  ®arnings Total  imerests equity

Motad RMEB RME RME RME RME RME RME RiE RME RME RMEB

Ealamcs a1 a1

1 Jaruary 2023 1,507 %710 4T 687 B, 901 183 Fi (456) WBE433 432,069 4,338 436 427
Profit for thie year - - - - - - - 30444 30,484 Rl N axE
Other comprehanzive

e s Lor the Paar - - - - - e &3 - 441 - 441

Tatal comprahene
witdng for the yar - - - - - e i3 20,444 30857 (8 30859

Drtnbuten te

nomsoontralling

FtarRitE - - - - - - - - - () (7E]
Share of s1so0sbes and

ponrit vamtared’ cikies

charges in retarves

nd othasy - 12 = = - - = [#9] Kl il ]
Dradends £ - - - - - - - 20,057 (20059 - (20057
Appeopnnnons o

statutary surplus

rELEnE T - - - 2540 - = = (2 |el = - -
Appropd aticns 1o

general nisk reserve it - - - - il - - [ by - - -
Bxlanos ot @1

11 Decamber 2023 #1507 19722 47 &87 BT, T8 =7 S04 (395) EPSTEI 442,928 4,241 447147
Frofit for tha yaar = = = = = = = 3xmz 33012 2T 32975
Cither comprahensive

inceme for the yaar = = - - - [F3m 130 - {207 = (207}

Tousl comprahenne
ncoeme for the year - - - - - 13 139 33z 3,805 h &7

Comnbusicn frem
neh-contralling

intarests - - - - - - - - = F1 ]
Charsibiutsan 1o mon-
cortrolling mtsrests - - - - - - - - - i) o}

Share of sl stey ard
pairit vertures® other
ehprges = raterass
and othéen - 188 - - - - - = 1@ - 18s

Dhsicdands w = = - - = = = [23452T RLsInm = [@R3EN

Appropn aticng 1o
Thatutory surphas

fédad i) - - - 1183 - - - [3.183) - - -
Appropriations to

genacal ik rmiarve b3 - - - - 274 - - {274} - - -
Eslares st a1

11 December 2024 1,507 1%, %08 AT 68T W0 w24 661 167 (265 201,801 452390 4162  &58.552

e

The notes on pages 1565 to 247 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SECTION Vil FINANCIAL REPORTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

for the year ended 31 December 2024 (Amounts in million)

2024 2023
Motes RMB RMB
Met cash from eperating activities {a) 145,049 137,508
Cash flows used in investing activities
Capital expenditure (8%, 928) (89 BAs)
Purchase of investments (1.919) (10%)
Payments for right-of-use assets (343) (307)
Preceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,345 1,223
Pracesds from disposal of right-of-use assets &5 a9
Proceeds fram dispesal of investments 52 124
Payments for equity instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income (40) {30)
Purchase of bank deposits (41,655) {13,349)
Maturity of bank deposits 22,972 6,742
Short-term loans granted to China Telecom Group by
Finance Company (b} (4,075) {8,100}
China Telecom Group's repayments of short-term loans
granted by Finance Company (b} 10,093 809
Met cash used in investing activities {103,432) (95.492)
Cash flows used in financing activities
Repayments of principal of lease liabilities (15,428) (14,647)
Proceeds from bank and other loans 6,613 5,988
Repayments of bank and other loans {8,647) {(11,239)
Payments of dividends {23,527) {20,059)
Distribution to non-controlling interests 190) (75
Centributien from nen-coentrelling interests 48 -
Met deposits by China Telecom Group te
Finance Company {b} 51 & &80
Increase in statutery deposit reserves placed by
Finance Company {b) {465) {121)
Met cash used in financing activities (40,545) (33,477)
Met increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,072 8539
Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January 81,045 72,4565
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate 89 42
Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 82,207 81,044

s — E—
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SECTION VIl FINANCIAL REPORTS
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

far the year ended 31 December 2024 (Amounts in millian)

(a) RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION TO NET
CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

2024 2023
RME RME
Profit before taxation 42,172 39,204
Adjustment for:
Depreciation and amertisation 101,044 e, 702
Impairment losses for financial assets and contract assets,
net of reversal 2,861 3,419
Write-down of inventories, net of reversal 4 7
Investment income and athers {114) {295)
Share of profits of associates and joint ventures (2,525) (2,118)
Interest income (2.242) {2,3468)
MNet interest expense 2,37 2,545
MNet foreign exchange gain orf loss and others 79 185
Met loss on retirement and disposal of long-lived assets
and others 1,869 e
146,539 144,299
Increase in accounts receivable (15,027) {11,067)
Increase in contract assets {168) (1,813}
Decrease in inventories 146 90
{Increasel/Decrease in prepayments and ather current assets (5,980) 130
Decrease/{Increase) in restricted cash 244 (182)
Decreasef{Increase} in other assets 94 (683)
Increase in accounts payable 18,194 10,176
Increase in accrued expenses and other payables 2,290 1,657
Decrease in contract liabilities {245) {2,432)
Cash generated from operations 146,987 140,175
Interest received 1,661 2,225
Interest paid {2,358) {2,648)
Investment income received 2,138 1,530
Income tax paid {3,379) (3,778)
Met cash from operating activities 145,049 137,508
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SECTION Vill FINANCIAL REPORTS
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

for the year ended 21 December 2024 [Amounts in millien)

{b} “Finance Company" refers to China Telecom Group Finance Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company
established on 8 January 2019, which provides capital and financial management services ta the member
units of China Telecommunicatiens Corporation, the parent and ultimate helding company of the
Campany. These transactions are conducted an normal commercial terms or better.

China Telecommunications Carperation together with its subsidiaries other than the Group are referred to
as “China Telecom Group”.

(c) SIGNIFICANT NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

Far the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not have other significant non-cash
investing and financing activities, except for the additions and modifications of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, and the instalment purchase of equipment, see Note 42 for details.

The notes on pages 165 to 247 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SECTION VIl FINANCIAL REPORTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

1. PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ORGANISATION

China Telecom Corporation Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the People’s Republic of China
{the "PRC"} en 10 September 2002. The Company and its subsidiaries (hereinafter, collectively referred
to as the "Group”) is a leading and large-scale full-service and integrated intelligent infarmation services
provider, previding its individual, househeld, government and enterprise custemers with integrated
intelligent infarmation services.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB"). IFRS Accounting
Standards comprise the following authoritative literature:

. IFRS Accounting Standards
. 145 Standards

+  Interpretations developed by the |FRS Interpretations Committes or its predecessoer body, the
Standing Interpretations Committee

For the purpose of the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by
primary usaers. The consclidated financial statements alse comply with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kang Companies Crdinance and the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited ("Listing Rules”),

As at 31 December 2024, the total current liabilities of the Group had exceeded the total current
assets by RMB137,252 million (31 December 2023: RMB135,573 million}). Management of the
Company have assessed the Group's available sources of funds as follows: 1) the Group's continuous
net cash inflow to be generated from its operating activities; 2) the unutilised credit facilities
amounting te RMB196,413 million (371 December 2023: RMB205,452 million); and 3) the Group's
other available sources of financing from domestic banks in mainland China and other financial
institutions in view of the Group's good eredit histery. Based an the above considerations, the
Board of Directors is of the opinion that the Group has sufficient funds to meet its working capital
commitments, expected capital expenditure and debt obligations. As a result, the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 have been prepared on a
geing cancern basis,

The consclidated financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis as modified by the
revaluation of certain financial instruments measured at fair value (Mote 3(g)h.
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SECTION Vill FINANCIAL REPORTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINAMNCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 21 December 2024

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards
requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
pelicies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. The estimates and assumptions are based an historical
experience and various other factors that management believes are reasonable under certain
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
those estimates.

The estimates and assumptions are reviewed an an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the peried in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that peried or
in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgments made by management in the application of IFRS Accounting Standards that have
significant effect an the consolidated financial statements and major saurces of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in Mote 47,

2.2 Application of amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the following amendments to IFRS
Accounting Standards issued by the |ASBE that are mandatorily effective for the current year:

. Amendments to |1AS 1 “Fresentation of Financial Statement”- Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Men-current {2020 amendments”) and amendments to |AS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statement”- Mon-current Liabilities with Covenants (2022 amendments™)

+  Amendments to IFRS 16 "leaszes”. Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

. Amendments to IAS 7 "Starement of Cash Flows” and IFRS 7 "Financial lnstruments:
Disclosures™- Supplier finance arrangements

The application of the above amendments te IFRS Accounting Standards in the current year has had
no material effect on the Group's consolidated financial statements.
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SECTION VI FINANCIAL REPORTS
MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Possible impact of new standards and amendments to standards
issued but not yet effective for the annual accounting period ended
31 December 2024

Up to the date of issue of the consolidated financial statements, the 1ASE has issued the follewing
new standards and amendments to standards which are not yet effective and not early adapted by
the Group for the annual accounting pericd ended 31 December 2024:

L
Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

Amendments to |AS 21 "The affects of changes in 1 January 2025
foreign exchange rates "- Lack of exchangeability
Amendments to [FRS 9 “Financial Instruments"and |FRS 7 1 January 2024

“Financial Instruments: Disclosures”— Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments

Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards - Velume 11 1 January 2026
IFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statemants”™ 1 January 2027
IFRS 19 “Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures” 1 January 2027

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact that will result from adopting the
new standards and amendments te standards issued by the 1ASE which are not yet effective for the
accounting period ended 31 December 2024, So far, the Group believes that the adoption of these
new standards and amendments te standards is unlikely to have a significant impact on its financial
position and the results of operations,

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(a) Basis of consolidation and equity accounting

The consolidated financial statements comprise the Company and its subsidiaries and the Group's
interests in associates and joint ventures,

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Company. When fulfilling the following ceonditions, the
Company has centrel over an entity: (a) has power over the investee, (b) has exposure, or rights, to
variable returns from its invelvement with the investee, and () has the ability to use its power over
the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns.
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SECTION VIl FINANCIAL REPORTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 21 December 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

(a) Basis of consolidation and equity accounting (continued)

When assessing whether the Company has power over that entity, only substantive rights (held by
the Company and other parties} are considered.

The financial results of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from
the date that cantrol commences until the date that control ceases, and the profit attributable
to non-contrelling interests is separately prezented on the face of the consolidated statement of
comprehensive inceme as an allocation of the profit or loss for the year between the nen-contralling
interests and the equity holders of the Company. Mon-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable directly or indirectly to the Company. For each business combination,
other than business combination under camman control, the Group measures the non-controlling
interests at the proporticnate share, of the acquisition date, of fair value of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets. Non-cantralling interests at the end of the reporting period are presented in the
consclidated statement of financial pesition within eguity and consclidated statement of changes
in equity, separately from the equity of the Company's equity helders. Changes in the Group's
interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions,
whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of contralling and nen-controlling interests within
consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but ne adjustments are made to
goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised, When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date when control
is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of
a financial asset or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate
or a joint venture,

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary, in which the Group exercises significant influence,
but not control, over its management. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial
and operating palicy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those palicies,

An investment in an asscciate is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements under the
equity method and is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group's share of the
acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s net identifiable assets over the cost of the investment
{if any} after reassessment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the Group's equity share of
the post-acquisition changes in the associate's net assets and any impairment loss relating to the
investment. When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that investee at the date when significant influence is lost
is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a
financial asset.

All significant intercempany balances and transactions and unrealised gains arising from
intercompany transactions are eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised gains arising frem
transactions with associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the entity.
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but enly te the extent that
there is no evidence of impairment.
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SECTION VIl FINANCIAL REPORTS
MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Property, plant and equipment

(c)

Froperty, plant and equipment, including investment preperties, are initially recorded at cost,
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (Mote 3{f)). The cost of an asset
comprises its purchase price, any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to working
condition and location for its intended use and the cost of borrowed funds used during the periods
of construction. Expenditure incurred after the asset has been put into operation, including cost of
replacing part of such an item, is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits
embedied in the item of property, plant and equipment and the cost can be measured reliably. All
other expenditure is expensed as it is incurred.

Gains or lesses arising from retirement or disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying ameount of the respective asset
and are recagnised as income or expense in the profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of each asset over its estimated uvseful life an a
straight-line basis, after taking into account its estimated residual value, as follows:

T
Depreciable
lives primarily

range from Residual rate
Buildings and improvements 8 to 30 years 3%
Cemmunications network plant and equipment 5 ta 10 years 0%-3%
Furniture, fixture, motor vehicles and other equipment 3 to 10 years 0%6-3%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the
item is allecated on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value are reviewed annually and any change will be
accounted for as change in accounting estimate.

Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents buildings, communications network plant and equipment and
other equipment and intangible assets under construction and pending installation, and is stated at
cost less impairment losses (Mote 3(f)). The cost of an item comprises direct costs of construction,
capitalisation of interest charge, and foreign exchange differences on related borrowed funds
to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment te interest charges during the periods of
construction, Capitalisation of these costs ceases and the construction in progress is transferred to
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets when the asset is substantially ready for its
intended use,

Mo depreciation is provided in respect of construction in progress,
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SECTION Vil FINANCIAL REPORTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 21 December 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

{d) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the investment cost over the Group's interest in the fair value of
the net assets acquired in the mobile communications business acquisition {as defined in MNote 7).

Geoodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allecated to cash-
generating units and is tested annually for impairment (Mote 3{fi). On disposal of a cash-generating
unit during the year, any attributable amount of the goadwill is included in the calculation of the
profit or loss on disposal.

(e) Intangible assets

The Group's intangible assets are primanly software.

Software that is not an integral part of any tangible assets, is recorded at cost less subsequent
accumulated amertisation and impairment losses (Note 3{f)). Amortisation of software is mainly
caleulated an a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives.

The useful lives of intangikle assets range from 2 to 5 years.

(f) Impairment of goodwill and long-lived assets

The carrying amounts of the Group's long-lived assets, including property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, intangible assets with finite useful lives and canstruction in progress, etc., are
reviewed periodically to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. These assets are
tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their recorded
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. For goodwill, the impairment testing is performed
annually at each year end, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they
might be impaired.

Before the Group recognises an impairment loss for assets capitalised as contract costs under
IFRS 15 "Revenue from Contracts with Customers” ("IFRS 157}, the Group assesses and recognises
any impairment loss on other assets related to the relevant contracts in accordance with applicable
standards. Then, impairment loss, if any, for assets capitalised as contract costs is recognised to
the extent the carrying amounts exceeds the remaining amount of consideration that the Group
expects to receive in exchange for related goods or services less the costs which relate directly to
providing those goods or services that have not been recognised as expenses. The assets capitalised
as contract costs are then included in the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit to which they
belong for the purpose of evaluating impairment of that cash-generating unit.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its fair value |ess
costs of disposal and value in use. The recoverable amount of a tangible and an intangible asset is
estimated individually. When an asset does not generate cash flows largely independent of those
from ather assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). In determining the value in use,
expected future cash flows generated by the assets are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. The
goodwill arising from a business combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, is allocated to
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit fram the synergies of the combination.
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SECTION VIl FINANCIAL REPORTS
MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

(f) Impairment of goodwill and long-lived assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit
exceads its estimated recoverable ameount. Impairment loss is recognised as an expense in profit or
loss, Impairment loss recognised in respect of cash-generating units is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amounts of
the other assets in the unit {group of units) on a pro rata basis.

The Group assesses at the end of sach reporting pericd whether there is any indication that an
impairment loss recognised for an asset in prior years may no longer exist. An impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. A subsequent increase in the recoverable amount of an asset, when the circumstances
and events that led to the write-down cease to exist, is recognised as an income in profit or loss.
The reversal is reduced by the amaunt that would have been recegnised as depreciation and
amertisation had the write-down not occurred. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed. For the years presented, no reversal of impairment loss was recognised in profit er loss.

(g) Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liakilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the
cantractual provisions of the instrument. All reqular-way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecegnised on a trade date basis. Regular-way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation
ar canvention in the marketplace.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for accounts
receivable arising from contracts with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
IFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable te the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities {other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss ("FVTPL")Y) are added to or deducted fram the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liakilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liakilities at FYTPL are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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SECTION Vil FINANCIAL REPORTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 21 December 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
{g) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets
Classification and subseguent measurement of financial assets

{# Financial assets measured subsequently at amertised cost

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at ameortised
cost;

. the financial asset is held within 2 business model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount cutstanding.

Interest income is recegnised using the effective interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost, The "effective interest rate” is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset. Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit sk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting penod
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

[} Equity instruments designated as at fair value through other comprehensive income
{"FVTOCI"™)

At initial recagnition of a financial asset, the Group may irrevecably elect te present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive income, and
accumulate in other reserves, if that equity investment is neither held for trading ner contingent
consideration recognised by an acguirer in a business combination to which IFRS 3, "Business
Combinations” applies. These equity instruments are not subject to impairment assessment.
The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the eguity
investments, and will be transferred to retained earnings.

Dividend from these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when
the Group's right to receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent
a recavery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the "investment
income and others” line item in profit or loss.
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SECTION VIl FINANCIAL REPORTS
MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
(g) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)

{iii} Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amertised cost ar FVTOCI
ar designated as FYTOCI are measured at FVTPL,

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss includes any dividend or interest @armed on the financial asset and is included in
the "investment income and others” line item in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to Impairment assessment under

IFRS 8

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss ("ECL"} model on financial
assets (including accounts receivable, financial assets included in prepayments and other current
assets, short-term bank deposits and restricted cash, cash and cash equivalents) and other item
{contract assets) which are subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recagnition,

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected
life of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events that are possible within 12 menths after the reporting date.
Assessments are done based on the Group's histarical eredit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for accounts receivable and contract assets (excluding
long-term receivables arising from instalment sale). The ECL on these assets are assessed
individually for debtors with significant balances or credit-impaired debtors, and collectively using
a provision matrix with appropriate groupings based on shared credit risk characteristics, including
nature of services provided as well as type of customers, such as receivable from telephone and
Internet subscribers and from enterprise customers.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12-meonth ECL, unless
when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increaszes in the likelihoad or risk of a default aceurring since initial recognition.
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for the year ended 21 December 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
{g) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment assessment under
IFRS 2 (continued)

(i Significant increase in credit rigk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
locking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the follewing information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

. failure to make payments of principal or interest on their cantractually due dates;

=  an actual or expected significant deterioratien in a financial instrument’s external or
internal credit rating (if available};

= anactwal or expected significant detericration in the operating results of the debtor; and

. existing or forecast changes in the technelogical, market, econemic or legal environment
that have a significant adverse effect an the debtor's ability to meet its obligation to the
Group.

At the reporting date, if the Group considers that the financial instruments has only lower
credit risk, the Group will assume that the credit risk of the financial instruments has not been
significantly increased since initial recognition. The credit risk en a financial instrument is
considered low if the financial instrument has a low risk of default, the debter has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow cbligations in the near term and adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the lenger term may, but will net necessarily, reduce the
ability of the debtar to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

iy Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor
iz unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Greup, in full {without taking inta account any
collaterals held by the Group),
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
(g) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment assessment under
IFRS 3 (continued)

{iiiy Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when cne or mare events that have a detrimental impact en
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have oceurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the fallowing events:

*  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
*  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

. the lender(s] of the barrewer, for economic or contractual reasans relating to the
barrawer’'s financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

= it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptey or other financial
rearganisation; or

* the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.

{iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-
off constitutes a derecagnition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit ar
loss.

(v} Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default, The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on the historical data and forward-looking
information. The Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on accounts receivable
using a provision matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-locking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the

Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial recagnition,
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
{g) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and cther items subject to impairment assessment under
IFRS 2 (continued)

(v} Measurement and récognition of ECL {continued)

Lifetime ECL for accounts receivable and contract assets are considered on a collective basis
taking into consideration past due information and relevant credit information such as forward-
loeking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration the following characteristics
when formulating the grouping:

. FPast-due status:
* Mature, size and industry of debtors; and
=  External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group
continue to share similar credit risk characteristics.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
measured at amortised cost by adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of accounts
receivable and other receivables where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity.

Chn derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in prefit or
loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group has elected on initial

recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in ather
reserves is not reclassified te profit or loss, but is transferred te retained sarnings.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
(g) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or eguity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial habilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the cantractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument,

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity
after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs,

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method,

Financial liabilities including short-term and long-term debts, accounts payable and financial
liakilities included in accrued expenses and other payables are subsequently measured at amaortised
cost, using the effective interest method,

Offsetiing a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net amount presented in the consalidated
statement of financial position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable
right to set off the recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultanecusly.

{h) Revenue from contract with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied. i e. when "contral”
of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer,

A perfarmance obligation represents a good or service that is distinet or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Contral is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant performance cbligation if one of the following criteria

is met;

. the customer simultanecusly receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group's
performance as the Group performs;
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

{h) Revenue from contract with customers (continued)

. the Group's perfarmance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the
Groups perfarms; or

. the Greup's perfermance does not create an asset with an altemative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

As such, revenues from contracts with customers of telecommunications services are generally
recaghised over time during which the services are provided to custemers.

Crtherwise, revenue is recognised at a paint in time when the custamer obtains control of the distinet
good or service. As such, revenues from sales of equipment are recognised at a point in time when
the equipment is delivered to the customers and when the contral over the equipment have been
transferred to the customers.,

Where the contract contains a significant financing compeonent, the Group recognises the
transaction price at an amount that reflects the price that a customer would have paid for the
proemised goods or services if the customer had paid cash for those goods or services when {or as)
they transfer to the customer. The difference between the amount of promised consideration and
the cash selling price is amortised using an effective interest method over the contract term.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in exchange for goods or services
that the Group has transferred to a customer but the right is conditioned an the Group's future
perfermance. A contract asset is transferred to accounts receivable when the right becomes
uncenditional. A contract asset is assessed for impairment in accordance with IFRS 2. |n contrast, a
receivable represents the Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time
is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s cbligation to transfer goods or services to a customer
far which the Group has received consideration {or an amount of consideration is due) from the
custemer, When the Group receives an advance payment before the perfermance ebligation is
satisfied, this will give rise to a contract liability, until the operating revenues recagnised on the
relevant contract exceed the amount of the advance payment.

The Group provides subscriber points reward program, which rewards customers based on their
consumption amounts and loyalty, Under the reward program, the Group allocates part of the
transaction price to subscriber peints according to the stand-alene selling prices of subscriber points
and relevant goods or services. The stand-alone selling price of each point in the customer point
rewards is based an its fair value. The allocated portion of transaction price for the subseriber points
reward is recorded as contract liability when the rewards are granted and recognised as revenue
when the goods or services of points redemption are delivered or the paints are expired.

A& contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract are accounted for and
presented on a net basis.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
(h) Revenue from contract with customers (continued)

Contracts with multiple performance obligations (including allocation of
transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance obligation, the Group allocates the
transaction price to each performance obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinet good ar service underlying each perfermance sbligation
is determined at contract inception. |t represents the price at which the Group would sell a promised
good or service separately ta a customer. If a stand-alone selling price is not directly ahservable, the
Group estimates it using appropriate techniques such that the transaction price ultimately allocated
ta any performance obligation reflects the amount of consideration te which the Group expects to
be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised goods or services to the customer,

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance abligation

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance ebligation is generally measured
based on cutput method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the
value of the goods or services transferred to the customer to date relative to the remaining goods or
services promised under the contract.

Principal versus agent

When another party 15 invalved in providing goods or services to a customer, the Group determines
whether the nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified goods or
services itself (i.e, the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be provided
by the other party {i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it contrels the specified good or service before that good or service is
transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for the provision of the specified
good or service by another party. In this case, the Group does not control the specified good or
service provided by another party before that good or service is transferred to the customer. When
the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee ar commission to which it
expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided
by the other party.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
{h) Revenue from contract with customers (continued)

Consideration payable to a customer

Consideration payable to a customer includes cash amounts that the Group pays, or expects to pay,
to the customer, and also includes credit or other items that can be applied against amounts owed
to the Group. The Group accounted for such consideration payable to a customer as a reduction of
the transacticn price and, therefore, of revenue unless the payment te the customer is in exchange
far a distinet goad or service that the customer transfers to the Greup and the fair value of the good
or service received from the customer can be reasonably estimated. Accordingly, if consideration
payable to a custamer is accounted for as a reduction of the transaction price, the Group recognises
the reduction of revenue when (or as) the later of either of the following events occurs: (i) the Group
recognises revenue for the transfer of the related goods or services to the customer; and (i) the
Group pays or promises to pay the consideration {even if the payment is conditional on a future
event].

Certain subsidies payable to third party agent incurred by the Group in respect of customer
contracts, which will be ultimately enjoyed by end customers, and other subsidies incurred by the
Group directly payable to its customers, are qualified as consideration payable to a customer and
accounted for as a reduction of operating revenues.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of cbtaining a contract are those costs that the Group incurs to obtain a contract
with a custamer that it would not have incurred if the cantract had not been abtained.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all incremental costs to abtain a contract if
these costs would otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or loss within one year,

Costs to fulfil 2 contract

When the Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract, it first assesses whether these costs qualify for
recognition as an asset in terms of other relevant standards, failing which it recognises an asset for
these costs only if they meet all of the following criteria:

*=  the costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated contract that the Group can
specifically identify,

+  the costs generate or enhance resources of the Group that will be used in satisfying (or in
continuing to satisfy) performance obligations in the future; and

. the costs are expected to be recovered.
The asset so recognised is subsequently amortised to profit or loss on a systematic basis that is

consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods or services te which the assets relate. The
asset is subject to impairment review.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
(i) Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration,

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under IFRS 14
at inception or madification date. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

#s a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are accounted on a portfalio basis when
the Group reasonably expects that the effects on the consclidated financial statements would not
differ matenially from individual leases within the portfolio,

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

Far a cantract that contains a lease companent and one or more additional lease ar non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease compenent on the
basis of the relative stand-alene price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components.

short-term Ileases and |eases of low-value assels

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less frem the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies
the recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:
*  the amcunt of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

. any initial diract costs incurred by the lessee; and
*  an estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and remaving the underlying

assets, restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
(i) Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasenably certain to obtain ownership of the underlying
leased assets at the end of the lease term is depreciated from commencement date to the end of the
useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of
its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the
interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable;
. variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate;

. the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group; and

= payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

Wariable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate are initially measured using the index
or rate as at the commencement date. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate are not included in the measurement of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets, and are
recognised as expense in the period on which the event or condition that triggers the payment
oCCurs,

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion and lease
payments,
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
(i) Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-
of-use assets) whenever:

*  the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the date of assessment.

*  the lease payments change due to changes in market rental rates following a market rent
review, in which cases the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised |ease
payments using the initial discount rate,

Lease modifications

Except for rent concessions in which the Group applied the practical expedient, the Group aceounts
for a lease modification as a separate lease if both:

*  the maodification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

¢ the consideration for the leases increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone
price for the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to
reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the
lease liability based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised |lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the maodification.

The Graup accounts for the remeasurement of lease labilities by making comespoanding adjustments
to the relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease companent and ane
or more additional lease or non-lease compenents, the Group allocates the consideration in the
madified cantract to each lease compenent on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the leaze
compenent and the aggregate stand-alone price of the nen-lease components.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever
the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ewnership of
an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are
classified as operating |eases.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
(i) Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor (continued)

Classification and measurement of leases (continued)

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at commencement
date at amounts equal to net investments in the leases, measured using the interest rate implicit
in the respective leases. Initial direct costs (other than those incurred by manufacturer or dealer
lessors) are included in the initial measurement of the net investments in the leases. Interest income
is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group's
net investment outstanding in respect of the |eases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis aver the
term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable lease payments for operating leases
that depend on an index or a rate are estimated and included in the total lease payments to be
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as income when they arise.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease components, the Group applies IFRS 15 1o
allocate consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease components, Mon-lease components are
separated from lease compoenents an the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental depeosits received are accounted under IFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments fram
lessees.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head lease and the sublease as two
separate contracts. The sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to the
right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset.

Lease modifications

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part of the eriginal terms and conditians
are accounted for as lease modifications, including lease incentives provided through forgiveness or
reduction of rentals,

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a new lease from the effective date

of the modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease
as part of the lease payments for the new |ease,
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SECTION VIl FINANCIAL REPORTS
MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

(j) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities,
Income tax is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised
in other comprehensive income, or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax
are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Current tax is the
expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years. Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. The amount
of deferred tax is calculated on the basis of the enacted or substantively enacted tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled. The effect on
deferred tax of any changes in tax rates is charged or credited to profit or loss, except for the effect
of a change in tax rate an the carrying amount of deferred tax assets and liabilities which were
previously recognised in other comprehensive income, in such case the effect of a change in tax rate
iz also recognised in other camprehansive income.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income
will be available against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the
extent that it is no lenger probable that the related tax benefit will be realised,

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences, Deferred
tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to contral the reversal

of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temperary difference will not reverse in the
foresesable future.

(k) Related parties
{a} A person, or a close member of that person's family, is related to the Group if that person:
(it  has control or joint control over the Group;
ti}  has significant influence over the Group; or

{iiip 15 a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent,
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SECTION Vill FINANCIAL REPORTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 21 December 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

(k) Related parties (continued)

(b} An entity is related to the Group if any of the fellowing conditions applies:

{ii  The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

(i} The entity is an associate or joint venture of the Group (or an associate or joint venture
of a member of a group of which the Group is a member); or the Group is an associate
or joint venture of the entity {or an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of
which the entity is a member);

(iiiy The entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

{iv) The entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the Group is an associate of the third
entity; or the Group is a joint venture of a third entity and the entity is an associate of the
third entity:

(v} The entity is contrelled or jointly contrelled by a person identified in (a);

(vi} A person identified in {a){i} has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Clese members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

() Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which
revenues are earned and expenses are incurred, and is identified on the basis of the internal financial
reports that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker ("CODM") in order to
allocate resources and assess performance of the segment. The CQOM has been identified as
the Executive Directors of the Company. For the years presented, management has determined
that the Group has one operating segment as the Group is only engaged in the integrated
telecommunications business. The Group's assets located outside mainland China and operating
revenues derived from activities cutside mainland China are less than 10% of the Group's assets
and operating revenues, respectively. Ne geographical area infermation has been presented as
such amount is immaterial. Mo single external customer accounts for 10% or more of the Group's
operating revenues,
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SECTION VI FINANCIAL REPORTS
MOTES TO THE COMSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

(m) Foreign currencies translation

The accompanying consclidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi ("RMB"). The
functional eurrency of the Company and its subsidiaries in mainland China is RMB. The functianal
currency of the Group's foreign operations is the currency of the primary economic envirenment
in which the foreign operations operate. Transactions denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency during the year are translated inte the functional eurrency at the applicable rates
of exchange prevailing on the transaction dates. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities
are translated into the functional currency using the applicable exchange rates at the end of the
reporting penod. The resulting exchange differences, other than those capitalised as construction in
progress (Note 3(c)), are recognised as income or expense in profit or loss. For the years presented,
no exchange differences were capitalised,

When preparing the Group’s consalidated financial statements, the results of operations of the
Group's foreign operations are translated inte RMB at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rate ruling at the dates of transactions. Assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated inta RMB at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reparting
periad. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive inceme and
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange reserve,

(n) Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have the rights to the assets, and obligation for the liabilities, relating to the joint
arrangement. Joint cantrol is the contractually agreed sharing of contral of an arrangement, which
exists anly when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties
sharing contral.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to its interest in a
joint operation in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards applicable to the particular assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in which a group entity is a joint operator (such
as a sale or contribution of assets), the Group is considered to be conducting the transaction with
the other parties to the joint operation, and gains and losses resulting from the transactions are
recognised in the consolidated financial statements only to the extent of other parties’ interests in
the joint operation.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in which a group entity is 2 joint operater (such
as a purchase of assets), the Group does not recognise its share of the gains and losses until it resells
those assets to a third party.

(o) Inventories

Inventories consist of materials and supplies used in maintaining the telecommunications netwark
and goods for sale. Inventories are valued at cost using the specific identification methed or the
weighted average cost method, less a provision for ohsolescence,

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the

estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated casts of completian, the
estimated costs to make the sale and the related tax expenses.
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SECTION Vill FINANCIAL REPORTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 21 December 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

{p) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand and time depesits with original
maturities of three months or less when purchased, Cash equivalents are stated at cost, which
appreximates fair value.

(q) Met finance costs

Met finance costs comprise interest income on bank deposits, interest costs on borrowings, interest
expense on lease liabilities and foreign exchange gains and losses. Interest income from bank
deposits is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.

Interest costs incurred in connection with borrowings are calculated using the effective interest
method and are expensed as incurred, except to the extent that they are capitalised as being
directly attributable to the construction of an asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of
time to get ready for its intended use.

{r) Research and development expense

Research and development expenditure is expensed as incurred if the criteria of recognition as
intangible assets were not met. For the year ended 31 December 2024, research and development
expense, other than those related personnel expenses and depreciation was RMB4,4461 million
{2023: RMB4,2032 million). Research and development related personnel expenses and depreciation
for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to RMB?,703 million (2023: RMEBES,713 millien} and
RMB143 million {2023: RMB136 million), respectively.

(s) Employee benefits

The Group's contributions to defined contribution retirement plans administered by the PRC
government and defined contribution retirement plans administered by independent external
parties are recognised in profit or lass as incurred. Further information is set aut in Mete 45,

Compensation expense in respect of the share appreciation rights granted is accrued as a charge to
the profit or loss aver the applicable vesting period based on the fair value of the share appreciation
rights. The liability of the accrued compensation expense is re-measured to fair value at the end of
each reporting period with the effect of changes in the fair value of the liability charged or credited

to profit or loss. Further details of the Group's share appreciation rights scheme are set out in
Maote 46,

(t) Gowvernment grants
Government grants shall enly be recognised until there is reasonable assurance that:
*  the Group will comply with all the canditions attaching to them; and
+  the grants will be received,

Government grants that compensate expenses incurred are recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income in the same periods in which the expenses are incurred.
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SECTION VIl FINANCIAL REPORTS
MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

(t) Government grants (continued)

Government grants relating to assets are recognised in accrued expenses and other payables and
other non-current liakilities and are credited to the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the related assets.

(u) Provisions and contingent liabilities

A provision is recognised in the conselidated statement of financial position when the Group has
a legal or constructive present cbligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an ocutflow
of econamic benefits will be required to settle the abligation and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation,

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot
be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote, Possible obligations, whose existence will only be canfirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remate,

(v) Value-added tax ("VAT")

Output VAT rate for basic telecammunications services {including veice eommunication, lease ar
sale of network resources) is 9% since 1 April 2019, while the output VAT rate for value-added
telecommunications services (including Internet access services, short and multimedia messaging
services, transmission and application service of electronic data and information) is 6%, and the
output VAT for sales of telecommunications terminals and equipment is 13% since 1 April 2019,
Input VAT rate depends on the type of services received and the assets purchased as well as the VAT
rate applicable to a specific industry, and ranges from 3% to 13% since 1 April 2019,

Cutput VAT is excluded from operating revenues while input VAT is excluded from operating
expenses or the original cost of equipment purchased and can be netted against the output
VAT, arriving at the net amount of VAT recoverable or payable. As the VAT obligations are barne
by branches and subsidiaries of the Company, input and cutput VAT are set off at branches
and subsidiaries levels which are not offzet at the consolidation level. Such net amount of VAT
recoverable or payable is recorded in the financial statement line items of prepayments and other
current assets and accrued expenses and other payables, respectively, in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

(w) Dividends

Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are declared.

190/281



EDINETOOOO
Oo00000000000000000000000(E05927)
ooOooood

SECTION Vill FINANCIAL REPORTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 21 December 2024

4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Furniture,

Communications  fixture, motor

Buildings and  netweork plant wehicles and
improvements and eguipment other aquipment Total
AME millian RME millizn RME millian RME millizn

Cost/Deamed cost:

Balance as at 1 January 2023 109,014 881,332 29719 1,020,545
Additians 1:13 293 el 1,175
Transfarrad from construction in progress 2,780 71,442 2039 76,281
Retirement and disposal [1,139) (52,783 (2,310) {66,238}
Balance as at 31 December 2023 111,241 ag0, T84 29,744 1,031,769
Additions 1,503 256 334 2,132
Trarsfarrad from construction in progress 2,75 85,941 1,680 95,357
Retirement and disposal {1,035) (45,437 (1,973 {51,445
Balance as at 31 December 2024 115,465 331,584 30,765 1,077,814

Accumulated depreciation and impairmant:

Balance as at 1 Janvary 2023 (70,009 514,323 [22,271) 1604, 602
Dapraciation chargs for the year [3,760) [6% 537) (1,930 (75,234}
Writtan back on retirement and dispasal 1,037 56,773 £.400 &0,010
Balance as at 31 December 2023 {72,732 {527,085 {22,008} (621,8258)
Depreciation and impairment charge for the year 13,674) {70,414) 1,958) {756,044)
Written back an retiremant and disposal Q06 44,330 1,899 47,135
Balance 55 at 31 Decembar 2024 (75,500 (553,170 (22,065 (650,735)
Met book value as st 31 Decamber 2024 39,945 378,414 8,700 427,079
Met book value as at 31 December 2023 38,50% 363698 7,736 403 243
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SECTION VI FINANCIAL REPORTS
MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

5. CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS

RME million
Balance as at 1 January 2023 58,443
Additions 26,000
Transferred to property, plant and equipment {76,241)
Transferred to intangible assets (5.944)
Balance as at 31 December 2023 72,238
]
Additions 89,039 |
Transferred to property, plant and equipment (95,357) |
Transferred to intangible assets (7,119 |
Balance as at 31 December 2024 58,801
6. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
Comrini cati sod
towers and
Loz ehesld land Buidings ralabed assets Equipment Others Tatal
RME million RME millian RME millizn RME mrillan RHE milion FHE million
B st 31 Decomber 2024
Carmying amount 22,10 12,175 25418 5219 462 9,068
Az ot 31 Detembar 2023
Careping amount BA 14454 IR gz 449 74,504
For the year ended 31 Decembar 2024
Dlapré cinboh chargs [EEa {5075 {7848 [2.345) 73 (168131 |
Far the year ended 31 Decamber 2623
Depreaation charge el S.508) {7, Tad) A3 (143 (1,057
Far the year ended 31 Dacember 2024

Prowion fior impasmen bods i (i1 - - = nn

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Fremtaon for impasment boss - ki3 - - . &)
e ——

The Group leases communications towers and related assets, land and buildings, equipment and other
assets for its operations, Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range
of different terms and conditions, In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable peried, the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for which the
cantract is enforeeable,

192/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn

SECTION Vill FINANCIAL REPORTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 21 December 2024

6. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024, expenses relating to short-term leases and expenses relating to
leases of low value assets amounting to RME1,310 million (2023: RMB1,066 million) and variable leaze
payments not included in the measurement of lease liabilities amounting to RMBS5,836 million {2023:
RMBS5,057 million), are recognised in profit or loss,

For the year ended 31 December 2024, total cash outflow for leases was RMB24,709 millian (2023:

RMB23,068 million), and additions to right-of-use assets were RMB11,689 million {2023: RMB13,284
million).

7. GOODWILL

31 December

2024 2023
RME million RME millicn
Cost:
Goodwill arising from acquisition of
mabile communications business 29,925 29,923

O 1 October 2008, the Group acquired the mobile communications business and related assets and
liabilities {collectively “maobile communications business”), which also included the entire equity interests
of China Unicom (Macau) Company Limited (currently known as China Telecom (Macau) Company Limited)
and 99.5% equity interests of Unicom Huasheng Telecommunications Technelogy Company Limited
{eurrently known as Tianyi Telecam Terminals Company Limited) fram China Unicom Carporation Limited
and China Unicom Limited (collectively "Unicom Group”). The purchase price of the business combination
was RMB43,800 million, which was fully settled as at 31 December 2010, In addition, pursuant te the
acquisition agreement, the Group acquired the customer-related assets and assumed the customer-
related liabilities of mobile communications business for a net settlement amount of RMB32 471 million
due from Unicom Group. This amount was subsequently settled by Unicom Group in 2009, The business
combination was accounted for using the purchase method.

The goodwill recegnised in the business combination is attributable to the skills and technical talent
of the acquired business's workforce, and the synergies expected to be achieved from integrating and
combining the mobile communications business into the Group’s telecommunications business,

For the purpose of goodwill impairment testing, the goodwill arising from the acquisition of mobile
communications business was allocated to the appropriate cash-generating unit of the Group, which is
the Group's telecommunications business. The recoverable amount of the Group's telecommunications
business is estimated based on the value in use model, which considers the Group's financial budgets
covering a five-year period, revenue growth rate of 1.4% (2023: 2.7% to 3.6%) and a pre-tax discount rate
of 9.8% {2023: 9.8%). Cash flaws beyand the five-year periad are extrapolated using a steady 1.0% growth
rate (2023: 1.5%). The Group performed impairment tests for the goodwill at the end of the reporting
pericd and determined that goodwill was net impaired. The Group believes any reasanably possible
change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount is based would not cause its recoverable
amaunt to be less than carrying amount.
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SECTION VI FINANCIAL REPORTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Software
and others
RME million
Cost:
Balance as at 1 January 2023 &0,779
Additions 3,484
Transferred from constrection in progress 5,944
Retirement and dispasal (2,029
Balance as at 31 December 2023 A8, 180
Additions 4,078
Transferred from construction in progress 7,119
Retirement and disposal (2,948) |
Balance as at 31 December 2024 76,429
Accumulated amortisation and impairment:
Balance as at 1 January 2023 {39,999)
Amertisation charge for the year {7,411}
Written back on retirement and dispeosal 1,932
Balance as at 31 December 2023 (45,478)
Amaortisation charge for the year (8,189} |
Written back on retirement and disposal : 2,751
Balance as at 31 December 2024 (50,9186) |
Met book value as at 31 December 2024 25,513
Met book value as at 31 December 2023 22,702
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SECTION Vill FINANCIAL REPORTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 21 December 2024

9. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Oooooooa

Details of the Company’s subsidianes which principally affected the operating results, assets and liabilities

of the Group as at 31 December 2024 are as fallows:

Rugisterad ismad
capital fin RME
Place of incosporation eillicn umloss
Mama of company Type of kegal entity  Date of incorporation  and operation otherwise stated) Princpal activity
China Tefecam Digitat ktefigence  Limited Compaeny 13 Septamnbar 2001 PR 1000 Frowemon of system
Tachnology Co., Ltd integration and consiling
seviced
China Tefecom Global Limited Limited Company 5 Febuzry 3000 Hang Eang Speda HES 48 milllon Frowision of
Adminlstrative Regian telecommunications
ol e FEC services
China Tebecom Best Tone Limited Campany 15 Azgust 2007 PRE 350 Frowision of Best Tone
Inbormation Senace Co., Lid, imbormation services
Tiany: Telecom Termmalz Limited Campany 1 Jaly 2005 PR 5K Sales of wlecommunications
Compaeiy Limted termranaly
IMUSH Culture & Technology Limited Company T dane 2013 FRC 50 Frovision of music peodudtion
Co, Lid = related information
RECED
Tianyl Capital Hobding Co, Ltd,  Limited Company 30 Movember 2007 PRC 5,000 Capital investment and
provision of consulfng
EBfvices
China Tebocom Group Finance Co,, Limitsd Campany B Jatuary 2019 FRC 5000 Frovsen of cpital and
Ltd. “Finange Campany”) finznciz! management
Jerces
China Tedecom Cloud Technobogy  Limited Campany 1 Jaly 2021 PR 4,764 Frovoaon of dowd products
Co., Lud i sanices
E-surfing Digital Lite Technelogy  Limited Company & Jully 2001 FRC A0 Frovsion of coenpeohiisive
Co., Lid salitioess related to the
dig:l“-"ﬂ lite
Lingang Suanli (Fanghaly Limited Company 29 Rpil 2001 PRC 2350 Froveaon of compating powet
Technolagy Co., Lid. services
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SECTION VI FINANCIAL REPORTS
MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

9. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Ragisteradfiseoed
capital {in RMB
Flace of incceporation millicn usloss
Mama of companiy Type of legal entity Date of incorporation  and operation otherwise stated) Princpal activity
Shanghel Informaton kdustry Limited Corepany 14 Dacernber 1994 FRC 27 Proveson of comenunication
{Group) Co., Ld nginsiing design
and system termingd
developmant sevices
Tizwyi 10T Technolooy Co, L6, Limited Company 2 Febiuary 2017 FRC 1,000 Proweson of laT seices
China Tebecom ntelligent Hetwork Gimited Company 24 January 5022 FRC ¥ Pravisan of opeation and
Technology Co., Lid suppodt bechnlcal services
Tiaryi Satety Technology Co, Lid.  Limited Company 7 Septerniber 201 PRC "0 Provision of networdk
Indarmaton seaurity services
China Teberom Cigital City Uimited Company 16 June 2021 FRC 3500 Pravigon of information
Techsalogy Co, Lid sysleen mlegration and
technicd 1emices
China Tebecom Artificial Limited Corrpany 38 November 2023 FRC 1000 Prowvisson of AT technodogy
hisligence Technadogy Seviceg
(Hefjing) Co., Ld
Thareyl Shelian Technology Co., Lid, Limited Corrpany 28 November 2023 PRC 1,000 Provison af Vision network
serrices
China Tebatom Caanturs Limited Campany 24 May 2023 PRC 3000 Frgwrsion of quantum

infarmetion Technology
Group Limited

communhcation wnd
quan fum compaling
technotogy sendces

Except Finance Campany which is 70% ewned by the Company, and China Telecam Cloud Technology
Co., Ltd, which is 89% owned by the Company, all of the above subsidiaries are directly or indirectly
whelly-owned by the Company. Mo subsidiaries of the Group have material non-contralling interests.
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SECTION Vill FINANCIAL REPORTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 21 December 2024

10.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

31 December

2024 2023

RME millien RME millicn

Cost of investment in associates and joint ventures | 37,083 346,986
Share of poest-acquisition changes in net assets 7,094 6,172
44,177 43,158

The Group's interests in associates and joint ventures are accounted for under the equity method. Details
of the Group's principal associate are as follows:

Attributable
Mame of company equity interest Principal activities
China Tower Cerporation Limited (Mote (i) 20.5% Construction, maintenance and

operation of communications towers
as well as ancillary facilities

Mota:

(& China Tower Corporation Limited (“China Tower”) Is established and operated in the PRC, and Iisted on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 8 Auguse 2018,
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SECTION VI FINANCIAL REPORTS
MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

10.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES
(continued)

Summarised financial information of the Group's principal associate and reconciliation to the carrying
amounts of interests in associates in the Group's consolidated financial statements are disclosed below:

China Tower

2024 2023

RME million RME millian

Current assets 91,360 78,083
Mon-current assets 241,474 247 924
Current liabilities 75,7199 43,934
Maen-current liabilities 57,0548 54,379

2024 | 2023

RME millien RMEB million

Operating revenues 27,772 | 24,009
Profit for the year 10,730 9,750
COther comprehensive income for the year (3 &
Total comprehensive income for the year 10,727 9,754
Dividend received fram China Tower 1,743 1,144
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SECTION Vill FINANCIAL REPORTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 21 December 2024

10.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES
(continued)

China Tower (continued)

Reconcile to the Group's interests in the associate:

3‘I__De_§tmher

2024 2023

RME million RME million

Met assets of China Tower 199,979 197,694

Mon-centrelling interests of China Tewer 1 -

The Group's effective interest in China Tower 20.5% 20.5%

The Group's share of net assets of China Tower 40,995 40,527
Adjustment for the remaining balance of the deferred gain

from the Tower Assets Disposal {139) {217)

Carrying amount of the interest in China Tower in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group 40,856 43,210
Fair value of China Tawer caleulated based an quoted price 37,428 25,814

As at 31 December 2024, the fair value of investment in China Tower was RMB327 428 million based on
its quoted market price, which was below its carrying amount by 8.4%, After assessment, management
concluded that the impairment was not required for the equity investment in China Tower.
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SECTION VI FINANCIAL REPORTS
MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

10.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

(continued)

Aggregate financial information of the Group's associates and joint ventures that are not individually
material is disclosed below:

2024 2023
RME million _ RME million
The Group's share of prafit of these assaciates and
joint ventures 136 9
The Group's share of total comprehensive income of
these associates and joint ventures 136 11

31 December

2024 2023
RME million _ RME million
Aggregate carrying amount of interests in .
these associates and joint ventures in
the consalidated financial statements of the Group 3,321 2,248

11.EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

31 December

2024 2023

Motes RME million RME million

Equity securities of listed companies fi} 19 1,371
Unlisted equity securities (i} 74 55
1,015 1,426

Potes:

i The above listed equity Instruments represent ordinary shares of {isted entities. These investments are not held
far trading, Instead, they are held for long-term stategic purposes. The directors of the Company have elected
to designate these investments in equity instruments as FVTOCT as they believe that recognising short-term
fiuctuations in these investments’ fair value in profit or loss would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of
holding these nvestments for long-term purmoses and realising their performance potental in the lomg i

(i)  The above uniisted equity securities represent the Group’s eqguity interests fn various private entitfes. The directors
of the Company have elected to designate these fnvestments in equity Instruments as FYTOCH as they belleve that
the Group will hofd these investments for fong-tenm strategic purposes.
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SECTION Vill FINANCIAL REPORTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 21 December 2024

12.DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The compeonents of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities before offsetting are as follows:

Deferred tax assets Ceferred tax liabilities

31 December | 31 December 31 December | 31 December
2024 2023 2024 2023
RME million RME million RME million RME millicn

Accrued salanies, wages and
other benefits 3,595 2,264 - -

Tempeorary receipts of demaolition
and modification and deferred
revenues 2,508 2,745 - -

Depreciation, write-off and
impairment of property,

plant and equipment, etc, 2,852 2,809 {47,5946) {41,232
Allowance for expected credit

logss of accounts receivable 2,385 1,889 - -
Subscriber points reward program 1,003 o97 - -
Right-of-use assets - - {10,018) {(11,714)
Lease liabilities 10,9056 12,550 - -
Equity instruments at fair value through

other comprehensive income 30 20 (151)] (266)
Others 1,050 S50 - -
Deferred tax assets/{liabilities) 24,329 24,234 (57.7463) (53,912)

As at 31 December 2024, the offsetting amount of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liakilities was
RMBZ 3,656 million (31 December 2023: RMEZ2 887 million). As at 31 December 2024, net deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities after offsetting were RMB&T3 million (31 December 2023: RMB1,347
million} and RME34,107 million (31 December 2023: RMB31,025 million), respectively,
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SECTION VI FINANCIAL REPORTS
MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

12.DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

The movement of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are as follows:

Recognised in
consolidated
Balance as at statement of Balance as at
1 January comprehensive 31 December
2024 income 2024
RME million RME million RMEB million

Accrued salaries, wages and other benefits | 2,264 1,331 3,595 |
Temperary receipts of demaolition and

modification and deferred revenues 2,745 (237) 2,508
Depreciation, write-off and impairment of property,

plant and equipment, ete. 2,809 43 2,852
Allewance for expected credit loss of accounts

receivable 1,889 494 2,385
Subscriber points reward pragram 997 & 1,003
Lease liabilities 12,550 {1,644) 10,706
Equity instruments at fair value through

other comprehensive income 30 = 30
Others 2350 100 1,050
Deferred tax assets 24,234 95 24,329

Depreciation, write-off and impairment of property,

plant and equipment, ete. {41,932) {5,684) (47,596)
Right-of-use assets {(11,714) 1,698 (10,018)
Equity instruments at fair value through

other comprehensive income {288) 115 {151}
Deferred tax liabilities (53,912) {3,851) (57,763)|
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SECTION Vill FINANCIAL REPORTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 21 December 2024

12.DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

Recognised in

consolidated
Balance as at statement of  Balance as at
1 January comprehensive 31 December

2023 incame 2023
RMB millicn REME millicn RME millien
Acecrued salaries, wages and other benefits 2115 14% 2,264
Temporary receipts of demolition and
modification and deferred revenues 2,627 118 2,745
Depreciation, write-off and impairment of praperty,
plant and equipment, etc. 2,534 273 2,809
Allewance for expected credit loss of accounts
receivable 1,404 485 1,889
Subseriber points reward pragram 1,044 (47) 997
Lease liakilities 15,054 (2,504) 12,550
Equity instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income 2 21 30
Cthers 979 (25} 950
Deferred tax assets 25,788 (1,554) 24,234
Depreciation, write-off and impairment of property,
plant and equipment, ete, {35,479 (6,453} {41,932)
Right-af-use assets {14,323) 2,609 {11,714)
Equity instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income (11 {158} (264)
Deferred tax liabilities {49,912) (4,000 (52,912

Ceferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and tax losses carry-forwards
only to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable,
Certain subsidiaries of the Group did not recagnise deferred tax assets of RMB3,255 million (31 December
2023: RMBE1,4467 million) in respect of deductible temporary differences and tax losses amounting to
RMB13,668 million (31 December 2023: RMB9,269 million} that can be carried forward against future
taxable profits as at 31 December 2024, The deductible tax losses of the Group’s subsidiaries in mainland
China are allowed to be carried forward within next five years against future taxable profits, while those of
high-tech enterprises are allowed to be within next ten years.
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SECTION VI FINANCIAL REPORTS
MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

13.0THER ASSETS

31 December

2024 2023

MNotes RME millien RME million

Term deposits (i) 10,299 48
Contract costs {ii} 274 1,484
Prepayment for equity investment i) 1,775 -
Oither long-term prepaid expenses and receivables {iv) 8,838 8,375
21,885 9,909

Notes:
(i Terin doposits a8 at 37 December 2024 and 2023 are mainly more than one year,

(i) Contract costs capitafised as at 31 December 204 and 2023 mainly rélate to the direct cost of the provision of
wirelina terminals to subscribers for the provision of Wireline and Smart Family services of the Group. The amount
of capitalised costs racognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2024 was RMET, 120 miflfon {2023
AMET, 348 miliion). There was no impaimment in refatfon to the opening balance of capitalised costs or the costs
capitalised during this year,

()  The amount s the prepayment by the Group on 11 December 2024 to acquire the equity shares of Quantumctek
Co, Led, ("Quantumctek”), see Note 48 for details.

(v} Orther long-term prepakd expenses and recelvables matnly fnciude prepayments of construction and matenals, atc.

14.JOINT OPERATION

On 9 September 2019, the Group entered into a framework cooperation agreement (the "Cooperation
Agreement”) with China United Metwork Communications Corporation Limited ("China Unicom”} to
co-build and co-share certain 5G access network. Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement, the Group
and China Unicom delineate and designate the regions to jointly construct and operate one 5G access
network nationwide. |n certain regions where the 5G access network is constructed, operated and
maintained by China Unicam, the Group operates its 5G business relying en China Unicam’s network;
whereas in cther regions where the 5G access network is constructed, operated and maintained by the
Group, China Unicom aperates its 5G business relying on the Graup’s netwark.

Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement, the Group and China Unicom co-share 5G spectrum resources
while the 5G core network is respectively constructed, operated and maintained by each party. Both
parties jeintly ensure a unified standard on network planning, construction, operation, maintenance and
service quality in the 56 network co-build and co-share regions, and assure the same service level be
delivered.
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SECTION Vill FINANCIAL REPORTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 21 December 2024

14.JOINT OPERATION (continued)

The 5G network co-build and ce-share arrangement is agreed by the Group and China Unicom through
caordination and promation institution jointly established by both parties, in order to set up the relevant
mechanism, system and rules with unanimous consensus reached by both parties. The main function of
such joint coordination and prometion institution is to carmy out jeint netwerk planning and investment
decision, project initiation and acceptance and other related works, such as the determination of the
location of 5G base stations and the types of equipment to be used, and coordinate the operation and
maintenance of 56 co-build and co-share network in erder to ensure the effective implementation of the
Cooperation Agreement. For example, the timing, scale and location of the 5G base station construction,
selection of equipment and appointment of maintenance suppliers across all regions are all negotiated
and agreed by both parties with unanimous consensus,

Under the joint cperation, the business and branding of each party continue to operate independently,
and the subscribers to the services are owned by sach party, respectively. Revenues derived from each
party's subscribers are recognised by each party independently; cost and expenses are assumed by each
party respectively; while assets constructed by each party and the related liabilities are also recagnised
and assumed by each party respectively.

15.INVENTORIES

n De:_urnbur

2024 2023

RME million RME million

Materials and supplies 1,333 344
Goods for sale 1.934 3,0M
3,267 3,417
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SECTION VI FINANCIAL REPORTS
MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

16, ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET

Accounts receivable, net, are analysed as follows:

31 December

2024 2023

RME millien | RME millian

Third parties 49,724 37 881
China Telecom Group 2,586 1,670
China Tower 44 24
Other telecommunications operators in the PRC 1,259 893
53,587 40,448

Less: Allowance for credit losses (10,720) {8,238)
42,867 32,210

Ageing analysis of accounts receivable based an the billing dates or dates of rendering of services is as

follows:

31 December
2024 2023
RME million RMB million
within 1 year 42,715 34,140
1to & years 5,435 3,490
2 1o 3 years 2,273 1,238
Cver 3 years 2,164 1,580
53,587 40,448
Less: Allowance for credit losses (10,720) {8,238)
42,867 | 32,210

e ———— —— — e
L !

Cietails of impairment assessment of accounts receivable for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023
are set out in Note 40.
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17.CONTRACT ASSETS
e
31 December
2024 2023
RME million RME million
Third parties 4,916 4,768
China Teleeom Group 181 181
China Tower 1 1
5,098 4,930
Less: Prevision for impairment loss (367) | (265)
4,731 4, 465

Cantract assets mainly arise from contracts for the provision of Industrial Digitalisation and Wireline and
Smart Family services. The Group classifies these contract assets as cumrent because the Group expects to
realise them in its narmal operating eycle which iz generally within a year.

18.PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

31 December

2024 2023
RME millien RME millicn
Amounts due from China Telecom Group 3,962 2,067
Amounts due from China Tower 22 227
Amecunts due from other telecommunications
operators in the PRC 310 189
Cither receivables 10,028 8146
Less: Allowance for credit losses {786) : (F74)
Frepayments in connection with terminal equipment
purchases 4,187 4,236
Prepaid expenses and deposits 3,303 3,557
Frepaid VAT and input VAT to be deducted 14,114 | 10,932
35,140 35580

Note:

{  Asar 31 December 2024, amounts due from China Telecom Group included short-term loans granted to
China Telecom Group and fts subsidiardes by Finance Company (31 December 2024: RMBZ 062 million, and an
impaimment allowance recognised at RMEA4S million; 31 December 2023: RMES,080 million, and an impairment
alfowance recognised at RMET 42 miliion), interast rate was 2 40%-3.00%, both with a maturity perod of one year.
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SECTION VI FINANCIAL REPORTS
MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

19.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

31 December

2024 | 2023

RME million RME million

Cash at bank and in hand 45,938 78,740
Time deposits with original maturity within three months 36,269 2,306
82,207 81,044

20.SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM DEBTS

Short-term debts comprise:

31 December

2024 2023
RME million RME million

Loans from banks — unsecured 2,835 2 B&T

The weighted average interest rate of the Group's total short-term debts as at 31 December 2024 was
2.4% (31 December 2023: 3.0%) per annum, and the loans bear interests at rates ranging from 1.1% to
2.9% (31 December 2023: 2.7% to 3.4%) per annum, which are repayable within one year.

Lang-term debts comprise:

31 December

Interest rates and final maturity 2024 2023
RME million RME million
Bank loans — unsecured
Renminki deneminated Interest rates ranging from
{Mote (i) 1.08% to 2.60% per annum with
maturities through 2034 8,479 &, 029
US Dellars dencminated Interest rates of 2.00% per
annum mainly, with maturities
through 2028 145 160
Euro denominated Interest rate of 2.30% per annum
mainly, with maturities through
2032 73 84
8,697 4,275
Less: Current portion {1.238) {1,133
Men-current portion 7,459 | 5,142
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SECTION Vill FINANCIAL REPORTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

20.SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM DEBTS (continued)

Leng-term debts comprise (continued):

Mote:

0 The foans from banks include long-term RME denominated governmaent loans with below-marke! mterest rates
ranging from 1.08% to 1.20% per annum obtained by the Group through banks (the “Low-nterest Loans ™). The
Group recognised the Low-interest Loans a1 thelr fair value on inftlal recognition, and accreted the discount to profit
or foss using the effective interest rate method, The difference betwveon the fair value and face value of the Low-
interest Loans was recognised as govermment grants i other mon-cument liaoilites,

The aggregate maturities of the Group's long-term debts subsequent to 31 December 2024 are as
follows:

TS
31 December

2024 2023

| RME million | RMB million

Within 1 year | 1,238 1,133
Between 1 to 2 years 1,430 1,143
Between 2 to 3 years 1,075 1,036
Between 3 to 4 years 2,508 374
Between 4 to 5 years 1.310 1,604
Thereafter 1,135 965
8,697 &, 275

—
The Group's short-term and long-term debts do not contain any financial covenants. As at 31 December

2024, the Group had unutilised credit facilities amounting to RMB196,413 million (31 December 2023:
RMBZ205,452 million).
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SECTION VI FINANCIAL REPORTS
MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

21.ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

Accounts payable are analysed as follows:

31 December

2024 2023

RME million RMB millian

Third parties 117,720 | 111,025
China Telecom Group 31,194 26,444
China Tower 10,618 7,505
Other telecommunications cperators in the PRC 1.018 a9g
160,550 145,872

Amounts due to China Telecom Group and China Tower are payable in accordance with contractual terms
which are similar 1o those offered by third parties,

Ageing analysis of accounts payable based on the due dates is as follows:

31 December

2024 2023

RMB million RME million

Due within 1 manth or on demand 39,275 | 40,068
Due after 1 month but within 3 months 32,642 30,859
Due after 3 months but within & months 40,409 35,261
Due after & months 48,224 39,484
160,550 148,872
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SECTION Vill FINANCIAL REPORTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 21 December 2024

22.ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER PAYABLES

.
31 December

2024 2023

RME millien | RME millicn

Amounts due te China Telecom Group : 32,364 29,959
Amounts due ta China Tower 1,727 1,875
Amcunts due to other telecommunications operators in the PRC 34 14
Acerued expenses 20,350 22 548
VAT payable 1,016 748
Deposits and rental receipt in advance 5,188 5,643
Acerued salaries, wages and other benefits 18,111 13,1463
78,790 74,280

23.CONTRACT LIABILITIES

31 December

2024 2023

_ RME millien RME million

Third parties - &5,006 &5.171
China Telecem Group 178 245
China Tower 1 1
85,185 &5,417

Majerity of contract liabilities as at 31 December 2023 was recognised as operating revenuas for the year
ended 31 December 2024,
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SECTION VI FINANCIAL REPORTS

MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 .LEASE LIABILITIES

for the year ended 31 December 2024

31 December

2024 2023

RME million EME million

Within one year 14,369 | 13,399
Within a period of mare than one year but not more than

two years 13,579 12,974
Within a period of mare than twe years but not more than

five years 18,186 25,780

Within a pericd of mare than five years 3,077 3,894

47,211 56,049

Less: Current portion (14,369) (13,399

Men-current portion

34,842 42,650

—i—

25.SHARE CAPITAL

31 December

2024 2023
RME millian RMB million

Registered, issued and fully paid
T7.629 728 699 A shares of RMB1.00 each 77,630 77,630
13,877,410,000 H shares of RMB1.00 each 13,877 13,877
21,507 71,507

'—*
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SECTION Vill FINANCIAL REPORTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 21 December 2024

26 .RESERVES

The Group

T —
Capetal Share Surplus General Othe  Exchange  Retained

reserve  premium  reserves riskreserve  reserves  reserves  eamnings Total
RME milion AMB million AME million RMBE million RME milion KMB milfon  RME million  RMB million
{Note fi} {Note i) (Note ()  (Mote i}
Balance &5 at 1 Jenuary 2023 19710 47,687 B30 k] it [EE, e Eh

Total comprehansive income

fze the year - - - - i & s 30887
Share of associates and joirt

wermiures other changssin

reserves and othars 12 - - - - - | ¥
Dividends [Nate 37) = a s - = - (20,05%) {0,059
Apgropriations 1o Stasutory

surphus reserve (Note (i) = = B4 5 = = (2,850 =
Appropnations 1o gererel

sk resarve Note () - - & 04 - = (204 ol
Balanice &5 at 31 December 2023 Wi 484 LI 7 504 355 195,753 =149
Tetal compraharaive incoma

for the year - - - - (337 130 Eme 32,805
Share of associates and joirt

wEntures’ cther changss in

rasgrvss and atharg 136 - - - - - - 184
Dividands [Note 37) - = = = = - [23,527) (23,527
Approprations 10 statutony

surplus resanve (Note (] - - 3163 - - - (3,163 -
Appropriations 10 general

risk reserve (Note () - - - o - - 1274) -
Balance 5 at 31 Dwcamber 2024 19,208 47687 L &4l 147 (263 20im 30883

;—
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SECTION VI FINANCIAL REPORTS
MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

26.RESERVES (continued)

The Company

Capital Share Surplus Other Retained
reserve premium reserves reserves sarnings Total
RME millicn RME millicn RMB millicn RME millien RME millicn RME milion
{Note (i) (Note fiil} {Note (il (Note {iv}
Bafance a5 2t 1 January 2023 8755 47 487 a5 i 155,604 nr a7
Totel comprehensive income for the year - - - 470 Ry 5,069
Share of asscciates and jsintventures’
ather changes in reserees 1 - - - - !
Dividends Nots 37) - ' = = (I0.0:5 Q20059
Aporooriations 1o statutory surplus
reserve (Mote i) - - 2550 - 2,850 -
Balance as 2t 31 Decamber 2023 am 7 e LY 54 181,484 kP!
Total comprehantve incoma for e year - - - [344) nsn nzm
Share of associates and jointventures”
aithar changes in raserves 184 - - - - 184
Dividends Note 37) - - - - (23,527) [23,527)
Aperopriations o statutory surgius
resaree (Mate (i) - - 3163 - (3,163} -
Balance 35 ot 31 Decomber 2024 28957 47487 90,924 180 165419 134 167
L
Meotes:

{ft  Capital reserve of the Group mainfy represents the sum of {a) the difference between the canrying amount of the
Company’s net assets and the par vaiue of the Company’s shares issued upon its formation; (b} the difference
between the consideration patd by the Group for the companies acquired, from China Telecom Group which
were accounted for as equity trarsactions, and the historical canying amount of the net assets of these soquired
companies! and [c) the diference batwaan the constderation paid by the Group for the acquisition of non-
controliing intevests and the carrying amouwnt of the non-controlling mterests acquined,

Capital reserve of the Company represants the difference between the canying amount of the Company's net
assets and the par value of the Company’s shares ssued upon its formation.

(i)  Oher reserves of the Group and the Company reprasent primarily the change in the fair value of investment in

erquity instruments at FYTOC! and the deferrad tax recognised due to the change in fair value of those investment
In equity instruments,
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SECTION Vill FINANCIAL REPORTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

26.RESERVES (continued)
Notes (continued):
() The surplus reserves consist of statotory swplus reserve and discretionany surplus reserve,

According to the Company's Articles of Assoclation, the Company & required to transfer T0% of fts net proflr,
as determined in accordance with the lower of the amount determined under China Accounting Standards for
Business Enterprises and the amount determined under (FRS Accounting Standands, to the s@Etutony suipdus resenve
untif such reserve balance reaches 50% of the registered caplital, The tansfor to this reserve must be made before
distribution of any dividend to shareholders. For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the net profit
of the Company determined in accordance with Chira Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises and FRS
Accounting Standards are the same. For the year ended 37 December 2024, the Company transferred RMEBZ, 163
milffon (#0023 RMEZ 840 milfion), being 107 of the year's net profit, to this reserve. As at 37 December 2024, the
amount of statitory surplus reserve was RMEd4, 845 million (31 December 2023 AME41, 682 mififon).

The Company did not make any appropriations 1o discrationary surplus reseqve for the years ended 37 Decembar
2024 and 2023 As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the amooent of discretionary surpius reserve was RMB46,07%

miltion,

The statutory and discretionary surplus reserves are non-distributable other than in fiquidation and can be used
1o make good of previous years” fosses, If any, and may be utiilsed for business expansion or converted into share
capital by fssuing new shares to existing shareholders in proportion o their shareholdings or by increasing the par
witlue of the shares currently held by them, provided that the rematring statulorny sirpdus reserve balance after such
fssire is not less than 25% of the registered capital,

fiv)  According to the Company's Articles of Assodiation, the amount of refained eamings avaifable for distribution
to shareholders of the Company is the fower of the amount of the Company’s refained earmings determined in
accordance with China Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises and the amount determined in accordance
with (FRS Accounting Standards. As at 31 December 2024, the amount of retained samings available for
distribution was RMET&8,419 million (31 December 2023: RMETAT 484 million), baing the amount determined in
accordance with (FRS Accounting Standards. Final dividend of approximately RMES,483 miliion in respect of the
financial year 2024 proposed after the end of the reporting period has not been recognised as a lability in the
consolldated financial statements at the end of the reporting period (Note 37)

fvl  Purspant to "Requirements on impalrment Alowance for Financial Institutions ™ (Caifin [2012] No. 20} Esued by
the Mintstry of Finance of the PRC effective on 1 July 2012 (the “Requirements”), the Group's subsidiaries, mainly
Finance Company, established o general risk reserve within equity, through appropriation of retatned earmings, 1o
address unidentified potential losses relating to dak asses, The genemd risk reserve balence should not be fess than
1.5% of the ending balance of dsk assets, as delined i the Requiremants.
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SECTION VI FINANCIAL REPORTS

MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 |

2023
Motes RME million RME million
Type of goods ar services

Service revenues 482,033 464,965
Mabile communications service revenues 0] 202,524 195,460
Wireline and Smart Family service revenues iii} 125,680 123,063
Industrial Digitalization service revenues {iii) 146,588 138,890
Other service revenues {iv) 7,241 7,352
Sales of goods and others {v} 47,384 48,586
Total operating revenues 529,417 513,551
Revenue from customer contracts 521,522 505,531
Revenue from other sources 7.895 | 8,020
Total cperating revenues 529,417 513,551

Timing of revenue recognition
At a point in time 41,848 42,563
Civer time 487,969 | 470,988
Total operating revenues 529,417 | 513,551

s E————

Notes;

(i Represent primarity the aggregate amount of mobie communications service fees, mobile Intermet access service
fews, and short messaging senvice fees, otc, charged to customers for the provision of mabile services,

{i)

Reprasent primarily the aggregate amount of wireline communications service fees, broadband [nternet aocoss

senvice fees; e-Surfing HD service fees and Smart Family applications seqvice fees, etc, charged to customers for

tha provision of wireline services.

{fif)

Represent primarily the aggregate amount of fees charged to customers for the provision of Internet datacentre

senvices, clowd services, digital platformn services, dedicated intemet access services, atc,

il
iv

EEUDIMEnT A JOVernIment granis.

Represent primartly the aggregate amount of revenues from property rental and other revenues,

Reprasent primarily revenues from sates of mobile terminal equipment as well as wireline communications

Az at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the aggregated amount of the transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligations under the Group's existing contracts represents revenue expected to
ke recognised in the future when services are provided over the contract terms over the next 1 1o 3 years.
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28. NETWORK OPERATIONS AND SUPPORT
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2024 2023

MNote RME million RME millicn

Operating and maintenance 106,760 102,270
Utility 19,573 19,514
Metwork resources usage and related fees (i 32,363 29,018
Others &,902 2,607
145,598 160,411

'—5

Note

{f

MNetwork resources usage and refated fees inclnde fees in respect of the short-term leases and leases of low-value

assets, variable lease payments not depending on an index or a ate and fees for non-fease components in respect
of communications towers and mlated assets lease and the usage of network resources provided by thind parties,

29.SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE

2024 2023
Mote RME million RME million
Channel commission and customer services expenses 47,265 47,773
Advertising and promotion expenses 2,370 2,882
Property and transportation related expenses 2,972 3,128
Research and development expenses {i} 4,661 4,202
Auditors’ remuneration
— Audit services 45 54
— Man-audit services 3 4
Cthers 7,345 8758
66,663 &£5,804

MNote:

(]
development.
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SECTION VI FINANCIAL REPORTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

30.PERSONNEL EXPENSES

Persennel expenses are attributable to the following functicns:

2024 | 2023

RME million | RMB million

Netwaork operations and support 57,878 | 5,082
Selling, general and administrative 40,401 37,753
98,279 92 805

31.0THER OPERATING EXPENSES

2024 2023

MNotes RME millien | RME million

Interconnection charges (1) 15,938 | 13,910
Cost of goods sald (i 39,710 40,819
Conations 3 17
Others (i) 2,379 1,955
58,030 | 56,701

Motis:

(i} Intérconnection charges represent amounts incurred for the use of other domestic and foreign tefecommunications
operators’ networks for delfvery of volce and data traffic that originate from the Group's telecommunications
networks.

) Cozt of goods sold primarnly represents cost of communications egulpment solkd.

i}  Others mainly include tax and surcharges other than VAT and income tax.
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SECTION Vill FINANCIAL REPORTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 21 December 2024

32.NET FINANCE COSTS

2024 2023
RME million RMEB million
Interest expense on lease liabilities 1,792 2,130
Interest expense on short-term and long-term debts &74 504
Less: Interest expense capitalised* (77 | B89
Met interest expense 2,3M 2,545
Interest income {2,242) | (2,368)
Met foreign exchange gain or less and others 79 155
228 332
N Interest expense was capitalised in construction
in progress at the following rates per annum 2.6%-3.1% 2.9%-3.6%
33.INCOME TAX
Incame tax in the profit er loss comprises:
’ 2024 2023
RME millicn RME millian
Fravision for PRC income tax 5,134 3,121
Provision for income tax in other tax jurisdictions 192 236
Deferred taxation 3,871 5419
9,197 8774
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SECTION VI FINANCIAL REPORTS
MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

33.INCOME TAX (continued)

A reconciliation of the expected tax expense with the actual tax expense is as follows:

2024 | 2023

Motes RME million _ RME million

Profit before taxation 42,172 | 39,204
Expected income tax expense at statutory tax rate

of 25% i 10,543 2,801

Differential tax rate on mainland China

subsidiaries’ and branches’ income i {1,068) {858)

Differential tax rate on other subsidiaries’ income {ii} (55) (&%)

Mon-taxable income (i) {7168) {624)

Mon-deductible expenses {iv) 721 Q28

Tax effect of deductible temporary difference and
deductible tax loss for which no deferred tax asset
was recognised 1,258 1,028

Impact of tax incentives and reduction including
additicnal deduction for qualified research and

development costs, ete. (1,361} (1,238)
Others (v} {125} {190)
Income tax expense 197 8,776

. B
L |

Motes:

I  Execept for certaln subsidiaries and branches which are mafnly taxed af the preferential rate of 15%, the provision
for maintand China income tax i based on a statutory rate of Z5% of the assessable income of the Company, its
mainfand China subsidianies and branches as determined in accordance with the relovant income tax refes and
reguiations of mainland Chira,

(i) Income tax provisions of the Company's subsidiaries in Hong Kong and Macau Special Administrative Reglons of
the PRC, and in other countries are based on the subsidiaries’ assessable income and Income tax rates appiicatle

fn the respective tax jursdictions which range from 12% to 38%.

(1) Amounts represent share of profits of associates and folnt ventures and miscellansous Income which are not subyect
to Incodme AN,

(v} Amaounts represent mscellanecis expensaes in excess of statitony deductible Bmits for tax purposes,

(v} Amounts primariy represent settlement of tax filing differences of prios year annual tax rétum, sle
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SECTION Vill FINANCIAL REPORTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

34.DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION

The following table sets ocut the remuneration of the Company's directors and supervisors:

Salaries, Retiremant
Directers'/  allowances and Discrationary schame Share-based

superyisors’ fees  banefits in kind bonuses’ cantributians payments Total
2024 RME thousand  AME thousand  AMB thousand  AME thousand  RME thousand  RME thousand
Executive diractors
K Buiwen - 145 343 145 - 758
Liang Baajur" - 102 74 8z - 324
Shao Guanghs - 109 00 &9 - 249
L Guiging - 2 ki 137 = 849
Targ Ke - Pyl kch 136 - 684
Xia Bing’ - 18 18 13 - 45
Li Yimghui - 218 32 126 - &8
Li Jur® - Py A1 136 - 641
Non-executive director
Chan Shengguang - - - - - -
Independent

non-executive directors’
Nag, Kar Ling Jokany 509 - - - - 59
Yaung ChiWai, Jason 2 - - - - i
Chen Dangai - - - - - -
Lyu Wi - - - - - -
Supervisors
Huang Xudan® - 14 348 &4 i 750
Luz Laifang® - in kL 54 - £
Han Fang’ - ke 129 &h - 538
Thang Jiankin - 154 43 85 - 682
Guan Lixin - 20 18 127 FIE 1,38
Lua Thendong - 159 593 108 152 1012
Wang Yibing - - - - - B
833 A 4,545 1338 - 7,587
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SECTION VI FINANCIAL REPORTS
MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

34.DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

i

1

Mr. Liang Baojun was appotnted a3 an executive director of the Company on 21 August 2024, and resigned as an
executive director of the Company on 10 Febneary 2025,

Mr. Shao Guangiu resigned as an executive director of the Company on 23 May 2024,

Mr. Xia Bing resigned as an executive director of the Company an 19 January 2024,

Mr. Lt Jun resigned as an executive director of the Company on 22 January 2025,

The independant non-executive directors’ rermunerations were for thair services as directors of the Company.
Madam Huang Xudan and Mr, Luo [aifeng were appointed as supenisors of the Company on 21 August 2024,
Madam Han Fang and Mr. Zhang Jfanbin resigned as supervisoms of the Company on 27 August 2024,

The discretionary bonuses of the executive directors and supervisors were determined based on the Group's
parfarmance.

During year 2024, the Company also settled the bonus for year 2023, indluding RMEZS0 thousand for Ke Sufwen,
RMB327 thousand for Liv Guiging, RME327 thousand for Tang Ke, RME317 thousand for Li Yinghui, RMB317
thousand for Li un.

The remuneration of all directors and supervisors were cafculated based on their respective actual terms of

office within this year. None of the directors or supenvisors received any inducements for joining the Company or
compensation for foss of office, or waived or agreed to waive any emofuments durfng. this year,
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SECTION Vill FINANCIAL REPORTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

34.DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

Divectars'f Salarias, Retremant
spanvisers’  allowances and Dicretionary scheme Share-based

fost  benafits inkind baruses™ centriutians paymants Tatal
2023 EMEthousand  RMBthousand  RMBthousand  EMBthousand  BMEshousand  RME thousand
Executive directors
Ke Rumen - o 380 144 - T4
Shao Guangl - 9 340 126 - T34
Liu Guiging - 214 32 135 - &5
TangKe - 214 el 134 - 869
Xia Bingy! - 24 o 124 - 649
Li Yinghui® - 214 321 134 - b9
Li Jue? = 1 214 95 - 452
Weon-enecutive director
{han Shergguang - - - - - -
Independent

non-executive directors’

Tea Hau Yin, Aloysius! & - - - - a
Xu Erming’ 4 - - - - -
Wang Hsushming® 108 - - - - 104
N, Kar Ling Johnnyt 45z - - - - 452
Yewng ChitWai, Jasen an - - - - 37
Chen Danggit - - - - - -
Lyu el - - - - - -
Saupervisors
Dai Birf - &8 kit 43 - 453
Xu Sh |gua|'l.g=' - 43 mn 3 - 194
Han Fang - 435 £h3 1 218 1,487
Zhang Jiznkin - 261 &N 18 - 1,184
Guan Lixin® - 119 52z a 330 1,052
Lup Zhendong’ - 58 39 LI i T80
Wang Yibing - - - - - -

729 2558 5,051 1,389 768 10,655

223/281



EDINETOOOO
Oo00000000000000000000000(E05927)
ooOooood

SECTION VI FINANCIAL REPORTS
MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

34.DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

i Mr. Xia Bing and Mr. L Yinghut were appotnted as executive directons of the Company an & Jlanary 2023,

b Mir. Li Jun was appainted as an executive director of the Company on 23 May 2023,

3 The Independent non-executive directors’ remunemiions were for thelr services as directors of the Company,
4

Mr. Tse Hau Yin, Aloysius and Mr. Xo Erming resigned as independent non-executive directars of the Company on
& January 2023,

5 Madam Wang Hsuehming resigned from position as independent non-executive director of the Company on 23
May 2023,

& Mr. Mg, Kar Ling Johony and Mr. Chen Donggi were appointed as independent non-executive directors of the
Company on & farmsary 2023,

7 Madam Ly Wer was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 23 May 2023,
8 Mr. Daf Bin and Mr. Xu Shiguang resigned as supervisors of the Company on 23 May 2023,
¢ Madam Guan Lixin and Mr. Luo Zhendong were appointed as supervisos of the Company on 23 May 2023,

T The discretionary bonuses of the executive directors and supervisors were determined hased on the Group's
performance.

11 During year 2023, the Company alko seftled the bonus for year 2022, including RME355 thousand for Ke fufwen,
RME334 thousand for Shao Guangly, RMBI20 thousand for Liv Guiging, RMBIT10 thousand for Tang Ke, RMBE3T0
thousand for Xiz Bing, RMBZ58 thousand for L Yinghul, RMET 24 thousand for Lf A, and setted special icentives
of RMBET30 thousand for Han Fang, RMESQ0 thousand for Zhang JManbin.

12 The remuneation of all directers and supervisors were eafewiated based on their respective actual terms of

office within this year. None of the directars or supenvison received any inducements for joining the Company or
compensation for loss af office, or waived or agreed to walve any emofuments during this year,
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35.INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR

MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION

(a) Five highest paid individuals

Mene of the five highest paid individuals of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2024 and

2023 were directors of the Company.

The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the five (2023: five) individuals (non-directors) with

the highest emeluments are as follows:

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind

Discretionary bonuses
Ratirement scheme contributions

2024 2023
RMEBE thousand RME thousand
5,065 7,091
¥,504 5,370
535 1,181
15,504 13,642

The emaluments of the five (2023: five) individuals (non-directors) with the highest emaluments are

within the fellowing bands:

RMB2,000.001 - RMB2,500,000
RMEB2,500,001 - RMB3,000,000
RMEB3, 000,001 = RMB3,500,000
More than RMB3,500,001

2024 2023
MNumber of Mumber of
individuals individuals

- 1
3 3
1 1
1 -

Meone of these employees received any inducements for joining the Cempany or compensation for
loss of office, or waived any emoluments during the years presented,
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SECTION VI FINANCIAL REPORTS
MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

35.INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION (continued)
(b) Senior management remuneration

The emoluments of the Group's senior management are within the fellowing bands:

2024 2023

Mumber of Mumber of

individuals individuals

RMEO = RMEBE1,000,000 18 19
RMB1,000,001 — RMB1,500,000 2 3

36.PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company includes a profit of RMB31,623 million which has been dealt with in the stand-alone financial
statements of the Cempany.

Far the year ended 31 December 2023, the consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company includes a profit of RMB28 599 million which has been dealt with in the stand-alone financial
statements of the Company.

37.DIVIDENDS

Pursuant to a resolution passed at the Board of Directors’ meeting on 25 March 2025, a final dividend of
RMBO.0927 per share {pre-tax) totalling approximately RMBS,483 million for the year ended 31 December
2024 was proposed for shareholders’ approval at the Annual General Meeting. The dividend has net been
previded for in the conselidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024,

The 2023 Annual General Meeting considered and approved the authorisation to the Board of Directors
to decide on the intenm profit distribution plan of the Company for year 2024, Pursuant to a resolution
at the Board of Directors’ meeting on 20 August 2024, an interim dividend of RMB0.1671 {equivalent to
HKS0.182289) per share (pre-tax) totalling approximately RME15,291 million in respect of the six-maonth
percd ended 30 June 2024 was declared. The dividend of RMB12,972 million was paid en 11 September
2024, and the dividend of RMB2,319 milllion was paid on 18 Ceteber 2024.
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SECTION Vill FINANCIAL REPORTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

37.DIVIDENDS (continued)

Pursuant to the shareholders’ approval at the Annual General Meeting held on 27 May 2024, a final
dividend of RMBO.0%0 (equivalent to HKS0.098814) per share {pre-tax) totalling approximately RMBE 234
million in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 was declared. The dividend of RMBET 082 millien
was paid on 13 June 2024, and the dividend of RMBE1,154 million was paid on 26 July 2024,

The 2022 Annual General Meeting considered and approved the authorisation to the Board of Directars
to decide on the interim profit distribution plan of the Company for year 2023, Pursuant te a resclution
at the Board of Directors’ meeting on 8 August 2023, an intenm dividend of RMB0.1432 (equivalent to
HK30.156524) per share (pre-tax) totalling approximately RMB13,104 million in respect of the six-maonth
period ended 30 June 2023 was declared, The dividend of RME11,117 million was paid on 31 August
2023, and the dividend of RMB1,987 million was paid on 28 September 2023,

Pursuant to the shareholders’ approval at the Annual General Meeting held on 23 May 2023, a final
dividend of RMBO.075 (equivalent to HKS0.085065) per share (pre-tax) totalling approximately RMBS 955
million in respect of the year ended 31 December 2022 was declared. The dividend of RMBS, 900 millien
was paid on 9 June 2023, and the dividend of RMB1,055 million was paid en 21 July 2023,

38.EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is based on
the profit attributable te equity holders of the Company of RMB33 012 millien and RMB30, 444 million,
respectively, divided by 91,507 138,499 shares in issue.

The amount of diluted earnings per share equals basic earnings per share as there were no potential
ordinary shares in existence for the years presented.

39.COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had capital commitments as follows:

31 December

2024 2023
RME millien RMEB millien

Caontracted for but not provided
Property 3,214 1,212
Telecommunications netwark plant and equipment 17,012 21,015
20,226 22,927
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SECTION VI FINANCIAL REPORTS
MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

39.COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued)

Contingent liabilities

{a) The Group, with the assistance of its legal counsels, assessed and concluded that no material
contingent liabilities existed as at 31 December 2024,

(b} As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not have contingent liabilities in respect of
guarantees given to banks in respect of banking facilities granted to other parties,

Legal contingencies

The Group is a defendant in certain lawsuits as well as the named party in other proceedings arising in the
ordinary course of business. Management has assessed the likelihood of an unfavourable outcome of such
contingencies, lawsuits or other proceedings and based on such assessment, believes that any resulting
liabilities will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position, operating results or cash flows
of the Group,

40.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets of the Group include cash and cash equivalents, bank deposits and restricted cash, equity
instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income, accounts receivable, financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss and financial assets included in prepayments and other current assets.
Financial liakilities of the Group include short-term and long-term debts, accounts payable and financial
liabilities included in accrued expenses and other payables.

{a) Fair Value Measurements

Based on IFRS 13, "Fair Value Measurement”, the fair value of each financial instrument is
categorised in its entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to that fair value
measurement. The levels are defined as follows:

= Level 1: fair values measured using guoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
financial instruments

] Level 2: fair values measured using quoted prices in active markets for similar financial
instruments, or using valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are directly or

indirectly based on observable market data

*  Level 3: fair values measured uzing valuation technigques in which any significant input is not
based an cbservable market data
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SECTION Vill FINANCIAL REPORTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 21 December 2024

40.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

{a) Fair Value Measurements (continued)

The fair values of the Group's financial instruments {other than long-term debts and financial
instruments measured at fair value) approximate their carrying amounts due to the short-term
maturity of these instruments,

The listed equity securities investments included in the Group's equity instruments at fair value
through other comprehensive income and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
categorised as level 1 financial instruments. Az at 31 December 2024, the fair value of the Group's
listed equity securities investments is RMB922 million (31 December 2023: RMBE1,373 million),
based on quoted market price on PRC stock exchanges. The Group's investments in unlisted equity
securities, included in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and equity instruments at
fair value through other comprehensive income, are classified as financial instruments categorised as
level 3. As at 31 December 2024, the fair value of the these financial instruments categorised as level
3 is RMEB454 million (31 December 2023: RMBA50 million), For these financial instruments which are
not traded in active markets, the Group establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. The
valuaticn methods or medels used primarily include net asset value methed and market comparable
company madel, etc, The input values of valuation models mainly include net asset value and
expected yield rates, comparable company valuation multiples, ete.

The fair value of long-term debts is estimated by discounting future cash flows using current
market interest rates offered to the Group for debts with substantially the same characteristics and
maturities. The fair value measurement of long-term debts is categorised as level 2. The interest
rates used by the Group in estimating the fair values of long-term debts, having considered the
foreign currency dencmination of the debts, ranged from 3.5% to 4.9% (31 December 2023: 4.2% to
4.9%). As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's long
term debts were as follaws:

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value

RME millien RME million RME millian RME millien

Leng-term debts 8,697 8,514 46,275 6,124

During the year, there were no transfers amang instruments in level 1, level 2 or level 3.
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SECTION VI FINANCIAL REPORTS
MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

40.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Risks

The Group's financial instruments are exposed to three main types of risks, namely, credit risk,
ligquidity risk and market risk {which mainly comprises interest rate risk and foreign currency exchange
rate risk). The Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial
performance. Risk management is carried out under policies approved by the Board of Directors.
The Board provides principles for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific
areas, such as liquidity risk, credit risk, and market risk, etc. The Board regularly reviews these
policies and autharises changes if necessary based on operating and market conditions and other
relevant risks. The fellowing summarises the qualitative and guantitative disclosures for each of the
three main types of risks:

(iy Creditrisk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations
resulting in a financial loss to the Group, For the Group, this arises mainly from deposits
it maintains at financial institutions and credit it provides to customers for the provision of
telecommunications services.

Cash and cash equivalents, bank deposits and restricted cash

To limit expesure to eredit risk relating to deposits, the Group primarily places cash depesits
only with large state-owned financial institutions in the PRC with acceptable credit ratings. The
credit risks on bank balances are limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings.

Accounts receivable and contract assels arising from contracts with customers

For accounts receivable and contract assets, management performs ongoing credit evaluations
of its customers’ financial condition and generally does not require collateral on accounts
receivable and contract assets. These evaluations focus on the customer's past history of
making payments when due and current ability te pay, and take into account information
specific to the custemer as well as pertaining to the ecanemic envirenment in which the
customer operates. In addition, the Group determines the allowances for expected credit loss
under ECL model on trade balances individually or based on provision matrix. Furthermare, the
Group has a diversified base of customers with no single customer contributing mare than 10%
of revenues for the years presented.
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40.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

{b) Risks (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

Accounts recelvable and contract assets arising from contracts with customers

(continued)

The Group measures loss allowanees for accounts receivable and contract assets at an amount

equal to lifetime ECL, which is calculated using a provision matrix, or individually assessed for
those debtors with significant balances or credit-impaired debtors. As different loss panterns
were indicated during the analysis of the Group's historical credit loss experience between
telephone and Internet subscribers and enterprize customers, the fellowing tables provide

information about the Group's exposure to credit risk and ECL for accounts receivable from
telephone and Internet subscribers and enterprise customers, respectively, as at 31 December
2024 and 2023, Expected credit losses on accounts receivable of others are not material.

Accounts receivable from telephone and Internet subscribers:

31 December 2024

Expected Gross Loss

loss rate  carrying amount allowance

% RME million RME million

Current, within 1 month 2 5,979 120
1 to 3 months 20 2,120 420
4 to & months 60 891 532
7 to 12 months 11 1.624 1,299
Ower 12 months 100 2,051 2,051
12,665 4,422

Current, within 1 manth
1 ta 3 months

4 to & months

7 to 12 months

Oiver 12 months

Expected
loss rate
%

2
20
59
a0

100

31 December 2023
Gross

carrying amount
RME million

5,803
2,552

F05
1,449
1,594

12,325

Loss
allowance
RME million

115
504
538
1,175
1,596

3,930
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SECTION VI FINANCIAL REPORTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

40.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Risks (continued)
(i) Credit risk (continued)

Accounts receivable and contract assets arising from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Aceounts receivable from enterprise customers:

31 December 2024

Expected Gross Loss
loss rate  carrying amount allewance
% RME millien RME million

Within & menths 2 13,415 305 |
7 to 12 months 23 4,073 29
1 to 2 years &8 2,978 2,037
2 to 3 years 100 1,021 1,021
Civer 3 years 100 1,395 1,395
22,882 5,687

—:
i

31 December 2023

Expected Gross Loss

loss rate  carrying ameount allewance

% RMEB million RMEB million

Within & monthe 2 9734 222
7 to 12 months 23 3,657 834
1 to 2 years &8 1.812 1,239
2 to 3 years 100 587 587
Civer 3 years 100 224 204
16,684 3,776

As at 31 December 2024, the expected loss rate for contract assets is 7% (2023: 5%).

Az at 31 December 2024, the loss allowance for accounts receivable and contract assets
was RMB 10,720 million and RMB347 million (2023: RMBS,238 million and RMB245 millicn),
respectively. Loss allowance of RMB256 million as at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB2%2
millien}, which was not calculated collectively in the above, was made individually on debtors
with significant balances or credit-impaired debters.
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SECTION Vill FINANCIAL REPORTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

40.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
{b) Risks (continued)
(i) Credit risk (continued)

Accounts recelvable and contract assets arising from centracts with customers
(continued)

Expected |loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the past 1 to 3 years. These rates
are adjusted to reflect differences among economic conditions during the periad over which
the historical data has been collected, eurrent conditions and the Group's view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables,

Meovement in the loss allewance account in respect of accounts receivable is as follows:

2024 2023

RME millien RME million

At the beginning of year ' 8,238 | 6,117
Impairment lesses for ECL 3,585 3124
Written off and others {1.103) {1,003)
At the end of year 10,720 8,238

(i) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that funds will not be available to meet liabilities as they fall
due, and results frem timing and ameount mismatches of cash inflow and outflow. The Group
manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash balances and adegquate amount of
cammitted banking facilities to meet its funding needs, including working capital, principal and
interest payments on debts, dividend payments, capital expenditures and new investments for
a set minimum period of between 3 to & months.
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SECTION VI FINANCIAL REPORTS
MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

40.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Risks (continued)

(i) Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table sets out the remaining contractual maturities at the end of the reporting
period of the Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows (including interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if variable, based on
prevailing rates at the end of the reperting period) and the earliest date the Group would be
required te repay:

: :

31 December 2024

Total More than Mare than

eontractual Within Tyearbut 2 years but
Carrying  undiscounted 1 yearor less than less than Mere than
amaurt cashflew  on demand 2years 5 years § years
RME million  RME millien  RMEmillion  RMZ million  RME million  RME million
Short-term debts 2,835 2,849 2869 = - =
Long-term debits 5497 §,802 1402 1,548 5,342 1288
hecounts payabla 160,559 160,550 160,550 - - -

Arried expansst and othe

payables 52,474 53,263 53263 - - -
Leaes habilties 44,21 32,475 15,614 14,451 19,092 3,31%
Qther non-cusrent liabilities 216 Ly = 20 - -
. 73,983 178,987 233698 162448 14,435 4,608

31 Dacermber 2023

Total Mase than More than

contractual Within 1 yaar bt Eyaars bt
Camying  undiscountad 1 year or less than less than Mare than
amowen cash flow  ondemand 2 yeare §yexs 5 yaars
RME millian EME million EMBmilbon  RME8 million.  EMBmillon  RMB milfion
Shert-term debis 2,847 3,909 90 = = =
Long-teem debis 6,273 7182 1207 1472 1422 1251
Accounts payenle =581 145,872 145,872 = & =

Accrued expenses and ather

payebies 50,809 51,610 51,610 - - -
Loata Hakilties 56,049 50,458 14922 14113 725 4,204
Cither non-currant fabiliies 182 153 - 159 - -
262,084 248,190 216580 15574 30837 5,459

Management believes that the Group’s current cash on hand, expected cash flows from
operations and available credit facilities from banks (Note 20} will be sufficient to meet the
Group's working capital requirements and repay its borrowings and payables when they
become due.
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SECTION Vill FINANCIAL REPORTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 21 December 2024

40.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
{b) Risks (continued)

(iii) Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk exposure arises primarily from its short-term debts, long-term
debts and deposits with Finance Company. Debts carrying interest at variable rates and at
fixed rates expose the Group to cash flaw interest rate risk and fair value interest rate risk,
respectively. The Group manages its exposure to interest rate risk by closely menitoring the
change in the market interest rate.

The following table sets out the interest rate profile of the Group's debts at the end of the
reporting period:

31 Decamber 2024 11 December 2023
Effective Effective
interest rate % RME million | interest rate % RME million
Fixed rate debts
Short-term debts 2.6 2,835 3.0 2,847
Long-term dabts 1.3 4,772 11 8.577
7,607 8524
Variable rate debts
Short-term dabts - - 31 20
Long-term debts 2.6 3,925 2.8 598
3,225 &18
Total dabte 11,532 2,142
Fixed rate debts as a
percentage of total debts 66.0% 93.2%

Management does not expect the increase or decrease in interest rate will matenally affect the
Group's financial position and result of operations as at 31 December 2024,

In addition, The deposit interest rates provided by Finance Company to China Telecom Group
are fixed and shall comply with the relevant requirements of the Pecple’s Bank of China and
be with reference to the deposit benchmark interest rates proamulgated by the People's Bank
of China from time to time (if any) and the deposit interest rates of the same type of deposit
services for the same period offered by the major cooperative commercial banks of China
Telecom Group and are conducted on normal commercial terms or better. The management
of the Group does not expect the high level of fair value interest rate risk as such interast rates
are immaterial,
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SECTION VI FINANCIAL REPORTS
MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

40.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Risks (continued)

{iv) Foreign currency exchange rate risk

Foreign currency exchange rate risk arises on financial instruments that are denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency in which they are measured. The Group's foreign
currency risk expesure mainly relates to bank deposits and borrowings denaminated primarily
in LS dellars, Eures and Hong Kong dollars,

As at 31 December 2024, for companies adopt Renminbi as the bookkeeping base currency,
if RME had strengthened/weakened by 5% against foreign currencies, while all other variables
are held constant, the profit before taxation would decreasefincrease approximately RMB%8
millien (2023: appreximately RMB40 million) for financial assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currency (primarily in US dollars, Euro and HE dollars),

As at 31 December 2024, for companies adopt other than Renminbi as the bookkeeping
base currency, if the bookkeeping base currency had strengthened/weakened by 5% against
foreign currencies, while all other variables are held constant, the profit before taxation would
decrease/increase approximately RMB161 millian (2023: approximately RMBE4 million) for
financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency (primarily in Renminbi, US
daellars, Euro and HE dallars).

41.CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability te continue
as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide investment returns for sharehalders and benefits for
ather stakeholders, by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk and by securing
access to finance at a reasonable cost.

Management regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher sharsholder returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages
and security afferded by a sound capital peosition, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light
of changes in econemic conditions,

The Group monitars capital on the basis of liabilities-to-assets ratio. This ratio is calculated as total
liabilities divided by total assets. As at 31 December 2024, the Group's liabilities-to-assets ratic is 47 .3%
(31 December 2023: 45.5%).

Except for Finance Company, which is subject te certain capital requirements impesed by Mational
Financial Regulatery Administration (formerly known as “China Banking and Insurance Regulatory
Commission”), neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital
regquirements.
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SECTION Vil FINANCIAL REPORTS
MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 21 December 2024

42.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing activities, including both
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were,
or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows
from financing activities,

Payables in
respect of
instadment Depasits
Shartderm Longterm  purchase of Dividend  with Finance
debis debts equipment  Lease [abdities payable Company Tetal
AME millien AME milfian AMBmillian  RMBmilizn  RMEmilize  RME million RME million
{Note fi]
Balanca o at
1 Jarwary 2023 2840 7644 153 84,594 3 17420 74,399
Financing cash flows ] ) 8773 [14,647) [20,138) 4,680 33,54
Feeaign axchangs gen of [oss - E - & - - k!
Mew leases i z i 1019 ¥ 5 101
Lese moddfications - - - (7.224) - - (1.224
Cistribution to non-
contrelling migrasts - - - - 18 - 1
Dividends declared - - - - 058 - UL
Additions of equpment - - 481 - - - 4EN
Crhers ] 130 - - - - 128
Balancs 3 at
31 December 2023 18467 8,278 354 R i o F1EST
Finanging cash flows 2% 2275 4 280) {15,428 a7 LA iy 1 28)
Fersign exchenge gain or loss - - - 12 - - 12
New laases - - - 11,135 - - 1135
Leass modhcations - - - {2,557 - - {2,557}
Distabutice to non-
contrefling mterests - - - - %0 - %
Drvidends declared - - - - 23,521 - 35
Addrtions of equpment - - 733 - - - 733
Others ] 147 - - - - 144
Bafanca as at
31 December 2024 2835 8697 5418 4821 z 25,058 fan

MNotes:

@ Az at 3T December 2024, the balance of deposits with Finance Company amounting to RMEBZS, 058 million (31
December 2023 RMEZ24,107 milllon) were Included in amounts due o China Telecom Group in accrued expenses
and other payables (Mote 23),

(i}  For the year ended 31 December 2024, other than the nel frencing cash cutflows totalling RVIB40,728 million
(2023: RMB33,356 miilion) as presented above, other primary financing activities fnclede Finance Company’s
placing strtutory deposit reserves amounting to AME485 miflion (2023 RMEIT2T milfion) at the People’s Bank of
China which was inclided in the balance of short-term bank deposits and restricted cash as at 37 Decomber 2024,
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SECTION VI FINANCIAL REPORTS
MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

43.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Transactions with China Telecom Group

The Group is a part of companies under China Telecommunications Corporation, a company cwned
by the PRC government, and has significant transactions and business relationships with members of
China Telecom Group,

The principal transactions with China Telecom Group which were carried out in the ordinary course
of business are as follows. These transactions constitute continuing connected transactions under
the Listing Rules and the Cempany has complied with the relevant disclosure requirements under
Chapter 144 of the Listing Rules. Further details of these continuing connected transactions are

disclosed under the paragraph "Continuing Connected Transactions” in the "Significant Events”,

2024 2023
MNotes RME million RMB million
Construction engineering and design services {i} 21,045 19,031
Receiving ancillary services (i} 23,144 22,627
Interconnection revenues* i) 44 47
Interconnection charges” {iii) g9 BY
Receiving community services {iv) 4,491 4526
Centralised services transaction revenues (v 3,914 3,909
Centralised services transaction expenses (V) 596 806
Property and land use right lease income {vi} &9 &0
Praperty and land use right lease related expenses (i) 743 779
Addition to right-of-use assets {wii) 528 &73
Interest expense on lease liabilities {wii) 24 29
Provision of IT services {wiiih 3,064 2,294
Receiving IT services {wiii} 8,279 & 584
Purchases of telecommunications egquipment,
materials and procurement services {ix} 4,826 4,306
Sales of telecommunications equipment,
materials and procurement services (ix} 4,037 4,950
Internet applications channel services revenues {x) 41 62
Payment and digital finance related services {xi} 974 994
Communications resources lease expenses {xi) 567 517
Met outflow of depasit by China Telecom Group
with Finance Company® {xiii} 251 6,680
Interest expense on the depesit by China
Telecem Group with Finance Company® {wiii} 437 282
Short-term loans granted by Finance Company to
China Telecom Group xiif) 4,075 8,100
China Telecom Group's repayments of short-term
loans granted by Finance Company {xiti) 10,093 8091
Interest income frem loans granted by Finance
Cempany te China Telecom Group (=i} 123 245
Receiving finance lease services (xiv} 7.633 5,973
Licence incame for intellectual property® [£20] - 18
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SECTION Vill FINANCIAL REPORTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 21 December 2024

43.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

{a) Transactions with China Telecom Group (continued)

L These transactions are conducted on normal commarcial terms or better and are fully exemptoed from
compliance with the reporting, announcemaent, Independent shareholders’ approval andfor annual review
reguirements under Rules 144,76 or 144,90 of the Listing Hules.

Motes:

{1  Represent construction and engineering as well as design and supendsory services provided by China
Telacom Group,

{f)  Represent amounts paid and payable to China Tefecom Group in respect of ancillary services such as repairs
and matnlenance of ielecomminications equipment and facilities and certain cUstomer Sarvices.

(i) Reprasent amounts received and receivable from/paid and payable to China Telecom Group for
interconmection of local and domestic long distance cafls,

(v} Represantamounts paid and payable to China Telecom Group in respect of cultuml, educational, health care
and other communily services,

)  Represent related revenves and expenses shared between the Company and China Telecom Group for
cantralised services,

v} Representamounts of property lease fees recefved and recelvable from China Telecom Group for leasing of
properties and fand use rights,

{vi) Represent amounts in respect of the feasing of properties and land use rights from China Telecom Group,
which include the fees for short-term leases, leases of low-value assets, variabie [ease payments not
depanding an an index or a rate, fees for non-lease components, and right-of-use assets and refated
expenses recognised for leases.

(vif) Represent T services provided to and recefved from China Telecom Group,

(i} Represent the amouent of telecommunications equipment and materizls purchased from/sold to Ching
Tetecom Group and commission pakd and payable for procurement services provided by China Telecom
Group,

%)  Represent amounts received and receivabie from China Telecom Group in respect of Intermet applications
channel services, including the provision of communieations channe! and applications support platform and
billing and deduction services, atc

] Represent amounts paid and payable to China Telecom Group In respect of payment and digital flnance
related senvices.

xf) Represent amownts in respect of the leasing of refated communications resources from China Telecom
Group, including transmission network communications resources, wireless network communications
resources and wiraling ccess relwork COmmUnicalions resources, elc,

(xff) Represent amounts refated to financial services provided by Finance Company to China Telecom Group,
including foan service, deposit service and other financial services.

(xfv) Represent amounts refated o finance lease services provided by China Telecom Group, Including finance
lease services such as sale and feaseback, direct lease, etc., and related finance lease consulting senvices,

{xv) Represent amounts refated to licence income of inteflectual property granted by the Group to China Telecom
Group and its subsidiaries.
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SECTION VI FINANCIAL REPORTS

MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

43.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) Transactions with China Telecom Group (continued)

Amounts due from/te China Telecom Group are summarised as follows:

Accounts receivable

Contract assets

Prepayments and other current assets
Other assets

Aceaunts payable

Accrued expenses and other payables
Centract liabilities

Lease liabilities

21 December

2024 | 2023

RME million RME millian
2,556 1,470

181 161

3,962 9,067

130 135

31,194 26,444
22,364 29,569

178 245

1,204 1,051

<
Amounts due frem/to China Telecom Greup, other than short-term loans granted by Finance
Company included in prepayments and other current assets (Mote 18(1)) and deposit with Finance
Company included in acerued expenses and other payables (Note 42(i)), are unsecured, non-interest
bearing and are receivable or repayable in accordance with contractual terms which are similar 1o
those terms offered by third parties.

Short-term loans granted by Finance Company to China Telecom Group (Mote 18(i})) are conducted
on normal commercial terms or better.

The deposit interest rates provided by Finance Company to China Telecom Group shall comply
with the relevant requirements of the Pecple’s Bank of China and be with reference to the deposit
benchmark interest rates promulgated by the People’'s Bank of China from time te time (if any)
and the deposit interest rates of the same type of deposit services for the same period offered by
the major cooperative commereial banks of China Telecom Group and are conducted an nermal
commercial terms or better,
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43.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

{b) Transactions with China Tower

The principal transactions with China Tower are as follows. These transactions do not constitute

connected transactions under the Listing Rules.

P ———
1

2024 2023

Motes RME millien RME million

Tewer assets lease related expenses 0] 12,201 12,361
Addition to right-of-use assets 1] 3,828 3170
Interest expenses on lease liabilities i} 249 1,164
Provision of IT services {ii} 35 40

{0 Represent amounts in respect of the lease of tower assets. Tower assels fease refated expeanses include the
vartable fease payments not depending on an index or a mte and fees for non-lease componants and sght-

of-use assets and refated expenses recognised for leases.

()  RepresentIT and other ancillary services provided to China Tower,

Amounts due fromito China Tower are summarnsed as follows:

2024 2023

RME million RME millien

Accounts receivable 45 24
Contract assets 1 1
Prepayments and other current assets 22 227
Accounts payable 10,618 7,505
Accrued expenses and other payables 1,727 1,875
Contract liabilities 1 1
Lease liabilities 26,501 31,755

T ——— EESSSSSSSSIIIII L
L J

Amounts due frem/te China Tower are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are receivable or

repayable in accordance with contractual terms which are similar to those terms offered by third

parties.
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SECTION VI FINANCIAL REPORTS
MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

43 .RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c) Key management personnel compensation

Key management personnel are those persans having authority and responsibility fer planning,
directing and contralling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, including directars and
supervisors of the Group.

Key management persennel compensation of the Group is summarised as follows:
—
< B

2024 2023
RME thousand RME thousand

Shert-term employee benefits 9,538 11,179
Post-empleyment benefits 1,338 1,389
Share-based payments 659 T48

11,535 13,336

The above remuneration has been reflected in personnel expenszes.

(d) Transactions with other government-related entities

e

The Group is a gevernment-related enterprise and operates in an econemic regime currently
dominated by entities directly or indirectly controlled by the Pecple’s Republic of China through
government autherities, agencies, affiliations and other organisations {collectively referred to as
“government-related entities”).

Apart from transactions with the parent company and its fellow subsidiaries (Note 43(a)) and China
Tower (Mote 43(b)), the Group has transactions with other government-related entities, which

include but net limited to the fellowing:

=  rendering and receiving services, including but not limited to telecommunications services

sales and purchases of goods, properties and other assets

lease of assets

*  depeosits and borrowings
= use of public utilities

These transactions are conducted in the ordinary course of the Group's business on terms
comparable to the terms of tranzactions with other entities that are not government-related. The
Group prices its telecommunications services and products based on government-regulated tariff
rates, where applicable, or based on commercial negotiations. The Group has also established
procurement policies and approval processes for purchases of products and services, which do not
depend on whether the counterparties are government-related entities or not,

The directars of the Company believe the above information prevides appropriate disclosure of
related party transactions.
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SECTION Vill FINANCIAL REPORTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 21 December 2024

44.INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

31 December

2024 2023
MNata RME million | RME millien
ASSETS
Mean-current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net 394,783 385 375
Censtruction in progress 51,109 &0,227
Right-of-use assets 65,378 73,303
Goodwill 29,877 29,877
Intangible assets 22,552 20,673
Investments in subsidiaries g 40,145 34,924
Interests in associates and joint ventures 43,574 42,494
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2 2
Equity instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income 22 1,381
Defarred tax assets - T84
Other assets 19,110 077
Tetal nen-current assets 667,452 458,319
Current assets
Inventories 1,713 1,527
Accounts receivable, net 35,794 28,057
Contract assets 3,281 3,304
Prepayments and other current assets 23,586 19,557
Short-term bank deposits and restricted cash 4,454 & 250
Cash and cash equivalents 34,771 42,90
Total current assets 103,639 101,485
Total assets 771,091 FEO, 00
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SECTION VI FINANCIAL REPORTS
MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

44.INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY (continued)

31 December
2024 2023
Mote | RME miillion RME millian
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Short-term debts 9,627 19,241
Current portion of long-term debts 1,149 1,132
Accaunts payable 134,311 124,173
Accrued expenses and other payables 446,203 45,090
Contract liabilities 57,793 57,743
Income tax payable 1,886 39
Current pertien of lease liabilities 13,689 12,841
Total current liabilities 267,358 260,259
Met current liabilities {(163,719)| (188.574)
Total assets less current liabilities 503,733 499 745
Meon-current liabilities
Lang-term debts 2,756 2,765
Lease liabilities 33,619 41,189
Deferred tax liabilities 33,751 30,742
Other non-current liabilities 7,933 6,313
Total non-current liabilities 78,059 82,009
Total liabilities 345.417 342,268
Equity
Share capital 91,507 91,507
Reserves 26 334,167 326,229
Total squity 425,674 417 734
Tetal liakilities and squity 771.091 T40,004
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SECTION Vill FINANCIAL REPORTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 21 December 2024

45.POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PLANS

As stipulated by the regulations of the PRC, the Group participates in various defined contribution
retirement plans erganised by provincial, autenemous regional and municipal gevernments for its
employees. The Group is required to make contributions to the retirement plans at rates ranging from
15% to 16% of the salaries, bonuses and certain allowances of employees, Other than the above, the
Group alse participates in supplementary defined contributien retirement plans managed by independent
external parties whereby the Group is required to make contributions to the retirement plans at fixed rates
of the employees’ salaries, bonuses and certain allowances. The Group has no other material obligation
for the payment of pension benefits associated with these plans beyond the annual contributions
described above. During the year ended 31 December 2024, no forfeited contributions may be used by
the Group to reduce the existing level of contributions (2023: nil).

The Group's contributions to the above plans for the year ended 31 December 2024 were RMB12,017
million (31 December 2023: RMB11,018 millien),

The amount payable for coantributions to the above defined contribution retirement plans as at 31
December 2024 was RMB1,040 million (31 December 2023: RME%40 millien).

46.SHARE APPRECIATION RIGHTS

The Company implemented a share appreciation rights plan for members of its management to provide
incentives to these employees. Under this plan, share appreciation rights are granted in units with each
unit representing one H share. Mo shares will be issued under the share appreciation rights plan. Upen
exercise of the share appreciation rights, a recipient will receive, subject to any applicable withhelding
tax, a cash payment in RME, translated from the Heng Keng dollar ameount equal to the product of the
number of share appreciation rights exercised and the difference between the exercise price and market
price of the Company's H shares at the date of exercise based on the applicable exchange rate between
RMB and Hang Kaong dollar at the date of the exercise. The Group recogrmises compensation expense of
the share appreciation rights over the applicable period.

In Mevember 2018, the Company approved the granting of 2,394 millicn share appreciation right units
to eligible emplayees. Under the terms of this grant, all share appreciation rights had a cantractual life of
five years fram date of grant and an exercise price of HKS3.81 per unit, exercise price will be adjusted in
accordance with the established rules of the plan. A recipient of share appreciation rights may exercise
the rights in stages commencing November 2020. As at each of the third, fourth and fifth anniversary of
the date of grant, the total number of share appreciation rights exercisable may not in aggregate exceed
33.3%, 46.7% and 100.0%, respectively, of the total share appreciation rights granted to such persan. In
February 2023, the Board of Directors of the Company considered and approved the propesal in relation
to cempletion of exercise conditions of the 2018 Share Appreciation Rights for key personnel of the
Campany. It was confirmed that the exercise conditions of the 2018 Share Appreciation Rights have been
met, and the Company handled the matters in relation to the exercise of share appreciation rights.
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SECTION VI FINANCIAL REPORTS
MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

46.SHARE APPRECIATION RIGHTS (continued)

In March 2021, the Company approved the adoption of the Phase Il Incentive Scheme for Share
Appreciation Rights and the granting of approximately 2.4 billien share appreciatian right units to eligible
empleyees. Under the terms of this grant, all share appreciation rights had a contractual life of five years
from date of grant and an exercise price of HK$2,684 per unit. In Cctober 2024, the Company's Board of
Directors reviewed and approved the “Propesal en the Achievermnent of Exercise Conditions for the First
and Second Vesting Periods of the Company's Phase |l Incentive Scheme for Share Appreciation Rights”,
canfirming that the exercise conditions for these periods had been achieved, and the Company handled
the matters in relation to the exercise of share appreciation rights,

At the reporting date, the Company used the Binomial Model to determine the fair value of the share
appreciation rights. The model inputs to determine the fair value of share appreciation rights granted
included the closing market price at the grant date, exercise price, years to maturity, expected volatility,
risk-free interest rate, dividend payout ratio, the lower price limit on expected exercise date and expected
turnover rate.

Movements in the number of share appreciation rights for the years presented are as follows:

2024 2023
A2t 1 dapuary 2,400,515.,000 4,715,240,000
Exercised (1,416,444,381)| (2,111,528,550)
Forfeited {1467,895,519) (203,196,450)
TR 814,175,100 2,400,515,000

For the year ended 31 December 2024, compensation expense of RMB1, 920 million (2023: RMB2,144
millien) was recognised by the Group in respect of share appreciation rights.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the liability arising fram share appreciation rights was
RMEBZ 896 million {31 December 2023: RMB2,176 million),

47 ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

The Group's financial position and results of operations are sensitive to accounting methods, assumptions
and estimates that underlie the preparation of the consalidated financial statements. Management bases
the judgments and estimates on historical expenence and on ather factors that the management believes
to be reasonable and which form the basis for making judgments about matters that are not readily
apparent from other scurces. On an on-going basis, management evaluates its estimates. Actual results
may differ fram those estimates as facts, circumstances and conditians change.

The selection of significant accounting pelicies, the judgments and other uncertainties affecting
application of those policies and the sensitivity of reported results to changes in conditions and
assumptions are factors to be considered when reviewing the conselidated financial statements. Material
accounting pelicy information is set forth in Note 3. Management believes the following significant
accounting pelicies invalve the most significant judgments and estimates used in the preparatian of the
consolidated financial statements.
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SECTION Vill FINANCIAL REPORTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 21 December 2024

47.ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (continued)

Allowance for ECL for accounts receivable

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the accounts receivable, The provision rates are
based on customer’s past history of making payments when due and current ability to pay by groupings
of various debtors that have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is based on the Group's histarical
credit loss experience taking into consideration reasonable and supportable forward-locking information
that is available without undue cost or effort. The histornical loss rates are reassessed annually, and
changes in the forward-lecking information are considered. The Group has taken into account various
macroeconomic scenarios in consideration of forward-locking informatien of enterprise customers, and
applied weightings of the following three econamic scenarios as well as related forward-losking factors.
For the years presented, the weightings of "Meutral”, “Positive”, and "Megative” scenarics are 0%,
20% and 20%, respectively. The Group regularly moniters and reviews the related assumptions used in
calculation of ECL, which include the risk of economic slowdown, changes of external market environment
and technological envirenment and customers’ conditions, Consumer Price Index ("CPl"), Producer Price
Index (“PPI"} and Gross Domestic Product ("GDP"), etc. In addition, accounts receivable with significant
balances or credit-impaired are assessed for ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about the ECL and the Group's
accounts receivable are disclosed in Notes 40 and 16

Impairment of goodwill and long-lived assets

If circurmnstances indicate that the carrying amount of a long-lived asset may not be recoverable, the
asset may be considered "impaired”, and an impairment loss would be recognised in accordance with
accounting policy for impairment of long-lived assets as described in Note 3{f). The carrying amounts
of the Group's long-lived assets, including property, plant and equipment, intangible assets with finite
useful lives, construction in progress and right-of-use assets, etc., are reviewed pericdically te determine
whether there is any indication of impairment. These assets are tested for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that their recorded carrying ameounts may not be recoverable,
For goodwill, the impairment testing is performed annually at the end of each reporting periad. The
recoverable ameount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal. When an asset does not generate cash flows largely independent of thase from
other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). In determining the value in use, expected future cash
flows generated by the assets are discounted to their present value. An impairment loss is recognised if
the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable amount,
It is difficult to precisely estimate fair value of the Group's long-lived assets because quoted market
prices for such assets may not be readily available. In determining the value in use, expected future cash
flaws generated by the asset are discounted to their present value, which requires significant estimates
and judgments relating to level of revenue, ameount of operating costs and applicable discount rate,
etc. Management uses all readily available infarmation in determining an amount that is a reasonable
appreximation of recoverable amount,

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no significant provision for impairment loss was made
against the carrying value of lang-lived assets.
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SECTION VI FINANCIAL REPORTS
MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2024

47.ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (continued)

Impairment of goodwill and long-lived assets {continued)

Since the determination of recoverable amount of long-lived assets requires significant estimates and
judgments as described above, any changes in these estimates could have a significant impact on the
carrying value of the assets and could result in additional impairment charge or reversal of impairment
in future periods. Furthermore, revenue growth rate, terminal growth rate and pre-tax discount rate are
subject to greater uncertainties in the current year due to uncertainty on volatility in markets,

Depreciation and amortisation

Praperty, plant and equipment and intangible assets with finite useful lives are depreciated and amartised
on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets, after taking into account their
estimated residual value. Management reviews the estimated useful lives and residual values of the assets
annually in order to determine the amount of depreciation and amertisation expense to be recorded
during any repeorting period, The useful lives and residual values are based on the Group's historical
expenence with similar assets and take into account anticipated techneological changes and industry
practices, The depreciation and amortisation expense is adjusted on a praspective basis if there are
significant changes from previous estimates.

48.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 11 March 2024, China Telecom Cuantum Information Technology Group Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Conditional Mon-Fublic A Share Subseription and Strategic
Cooperation Agreement with Quantumectek to subscribe for the non-public & shares of Cuantumctek
with self-owned funds (" Transaction”). As of the end of 2024, the Transaction was approved by the State-
owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the State Council and the General Meeting
of Shareholders of Quantumetek, and received the approval for registration from the China Securities
Regulatery Commission. In January 2025, the equity transfer and share registration were completed.
However, board member appointment has not yet been completed. The prepayment of RME1,775 million
far the Transaction is recorded as other assets in Mote 13.

49 .PARENT AND ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

The parent and ultimate holding company of the Company as at 31 December 2024 is China
Telecommunications Corporation, a state-owned enterprise established in PRC,
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2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
16.06 18.06 21.01 21.01 22.46
14.79 15.78 17.93 18.84 19.89
15.48 17.04 19.54 19.88 21.19
15.81 18.05 19.10 19.92 21.63
State Administration of Foreign Exchange 100
2024 12 2025 1 2025 2 2025 3 2025 4 2025 5
21.76 21.77 21.37 20.91 20.80 20.56
20.65 21.41 20.62 20.33 19.42 19.86
21.22 21.64 20.96 20.67 19.91 20.11
State Administration of Foreign Exchange 100
19.71 2025 25
State Administration of Foreign Exchange 100
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Independent auditor's report
to the shareholders of China Telecom Corporation Limited
(incorporated in People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Telecom Corporation Limited (“the
Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 157 to 247, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended and notes, comprising material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2024 and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IFRS Accounting Standards”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including
International Independence Standards) (“IESBA Code”) together with any ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the People’s Republic of China, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do

not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Revenue recognition

Refer to Note 3(h) and Note 27 of the consolidated financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter

The Group’s revenue is primarily generated from
the provision of Mobile communications, Wireline
and Smart Family and Industrial Digitalisation
services (“service revenue”) and from sales of
goods.

There is an inherent risk on the accuracy of service
revenue recorded in the consolidated financial
statements due to the complexity of the related
information technology systems, which process
large volumes of data with a combination of
different services. In addition, revenue is one of the
key performance indicators, which gives rise to a
risk that manual adjustments may be incorrectly
recorded outside the billing systems.

We identified service revenue recognition as a key
audit matter because of the risks on the accuracy of
service revenue and recording of revenue in the
incorrect period.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of
service revenue included the following:

assessing, with the assistance of our IT
specialists, the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of management’s key
internal controls over:

- the general IT controls for the billing systems,

including access to program controls,
program change controls, program
development  controls and  computer

operation controls;

- the key IT application controls for the
completeness and accuracy of bill generation
and the end-to-end reconciliation from the
billing systems to the accounting system;

evaluating the appropriateness of the
accounting policies adopted in service revenue
recognition for different revenue streams and
assessing the appropriateness of the
management’'s determination of the impact of
terms and conditions on revenue recognition by
inspecting the main terms and conditions in
selected customer contracts;
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Key audit matters (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

The Key Audit Matter (continued) I(-(I:c())vr:tint::d)matter was addressed in our audit
selecting service packages, on a sample basis,
and comparing the services offered in the
packages and the package prices with the
relevant settings in the billing systems;

selecting bills issued to customers, on a sample
basis, and comparing with the contracts settings
out the services subscribed by the customers,
the corresponding accounts receivable details
and collection records in billing system;

reconciling selected revenue records in the
Group’s accounting system to cash collection
records;

recalculating the balances of accounts
receivable and advances from customers with
the use of computer assisted audit techniques
using data from the billing systems and
reconciling the results to the Group’s financial
records; and,;

inspecting journals entries relating to revenue
which met specific risk-based criteria, and
comparing details of these journals entries with
relevant underlying documentation.
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Refer to Note 3(f) and Note 7 of the consolidated financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter

The Group had recorded goodwill arising from
acquisition of the mobile communications business
in 2008.

In accordance with International Accounting
Standards (“IAS”) 36 “Impairment of Assets”, the
Group is required to perform goodwill impairment
assessment both annually and whenever there is an
indication of impairment. Management compares
the carrying amount of the assets group containing
goodwill with the recoverable amounts of the
relevant cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to determine
any amount of impairment loss. In performing the
impairment assessment, management assess the
recoverable amount, which is determined based on
the higher of the fair value less costs of disposal
and value-in-use. The Group determines the value-
in-use by preparing discounted cash flow forecast
and the preparation of the discounted cash flow
forecast involves significant judgment and
estimation by management, especially the key
assumptions, including revenue growth rate,
terminal growth rate and pre-tax discount rate.

We identified the goodwill impairment assessment
as a key audit matter because the amount of
goodwill was significant as at 31 December 2024,
and there were significant judgements and
estimates made by management in determining the
discounted cash flow forecast, which were
inherently uncertain and may be affected
management bias.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment
assessment of goodwill included the following:

assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal controls
over the managements’ impairment assessment
of goodwill;

with the assistance of our internal valuation
specialist, assessing the appropriateness of the
valuation methodology and the reasonableness
of the pre-tax discount rate and the terminal
growth rate adopted in the preparation of
discounted cash flow forecast;

based on our understanding of the
telecommunications industry, combined with the
historical performance and available market
data, evaluating the reasonableness of revenue
growth rate adopted in the preparation of the
discounted cash flow forecast;

comparing the key assumptions used in prior
year's discounted cash flow forecast with the
current year's actual performance to consider if
there was any indication of management bias;

evaluating the sensitivity analyses prepared by
management for the key assumptions adopted
in the discounted cash flow forecast and
considering if there is any indication of
management bias; and

assessing the reasonableness of the
disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of the impairment

assessment of goodwill with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards.
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Information other than the consolidated financial statements and auditor's report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all the information
included in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Frankie C.Y. Lai.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

25 March 2025
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